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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
GLOBAL EAGLE ENTERTAINMENT INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
March 31,
2016
ASSETS

December 31,
2015

(Unaudited)

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable, net

219,182

$

88,594

Loan receivable from related party

223,552
93,449

2,514

—

Content library, current

15,692

12,330

Inventories

18,898

14,998

Prepaid and other current assets

25,610

27,209

370,490

371,538

Property, plant and equipment, net

44,399

39,066

Goodwill

93,051

93,796

113,990

121,437

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS:

Intangible assets, net
Other non-current assets

17,759

TOTAL ASSETS

12,024

$

639,689

$

637,861

$

132,024

$

118,530

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue

10,027

10,449

Warrant liabilities

18,211

24,076

Notes payable and accrued interest, current
Other current liabilities
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current
Deferred revenue, non-current
Notes payable and accrued interest, non-current
Other non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

734

749

12,020

12,111

173,016

165,915

21,060

22,324

6,128

6,345

69,791

69,815

17,071

19,701

287,066

284,100

—

—

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized, 0 shares issued and outstanding at March 31,
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 375,000,000 shares authorized, 81,724,175 and 81,676,390 shares issued,
78,670,541 and 78,622,756 shares outstanding, at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively
Treasury stock, 3,053,634 shares at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015

(30,659)

(30,659)

Additional paid-in capital

690,060

688,696

8

Subscriptions receivable
Accumulated deficit

8

(534)

(528)

(305,869)

(303,457)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

(383)

TOTAL GLOBAL EAGLE ENTERTAINMENT INC. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

$

639,689

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(299)

352,623

353,761
$

637,861

Table of Contents
GLOBAL EAGLE ENTERTAINMENT INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2016
Revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales
Sales and marketing expenses
Product development
General and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Restructuring charges

$

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net
Change in fair value of derivatives
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

2015
113,817

$

76,768
4,672
8,746
21,221
7,403
—

69,426
3,275
7,230
18,119
5,983
302

118,810

104,335

(4,993)

(4,030)

(804)
5,865
680

(245)
954
(796)

748
3,160

Net loss

Net loss per common share – basic
Net loss per common share – diluted
Weighted average common shares – basic
Weighted average common shares – diluted

(4,117)
(686)

$

(2,412)

$

(3,431)

$
$

(0.03)
(0.03)

$
$

(0.04)
(0.06)

78,643
78,643

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
2

100,305

76,874
78,725
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GLOBAL EAGLE ENTERTAINMENT INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2016
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized foreign currency translation losses

$

2015
(2,412)

$

(84)

Other comprehensive loss

(228)

(84)

Comprehensive loss

$

(2,496)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(3,431)

(228)
$

(3,659)
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GLOBAL EAGLE ENTERTAINMENT INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands)
Common Stock
Shares
Balance at December 31,
2015
Exercise of stock options
Restricted stock units
vested and distributed, net
of tax
Purchase of subsidiary
shares from noncontrolling interests
Stock-based
compensation
Interest income on
subscription receivable
Other comprehensive
income
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2016

81,676 $
26

Accumulated
Additional Subscriptions Accumulated
Other
Paid-in
Comprehensive
Receivable
Deficit
Amount
Capital
Income (Loss)

Treasury Stock

Amount

Shares

8
—

(3,054) $ (30,659) $ 688,696 $
—
—
254

(528) $ (303,457) $
—
—

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

(299) $
—

353,761
254

22

—

—

—

(83)

—

—

—

(83)

—

—

—

—

(876)

—

—

—

(876)

—

—

—

2,069

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(6)

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

81,724 $

8

(3,054) $ (30,659) $ 690,060 $

—
(2,412)

(534) $ (305,869) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(84)
—
(383) $

2,069
(6)
(84)
(2,412)
352,623
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GLOBAL EAGLE ENTERTAINMENT INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016

2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash interest expense, net
Change in fair value of derivative financial instrument
Stock-based compensation
Gain on sale of available for sale securities
Deferred income taxes
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory and content library
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment
Issuance of loan to related party
Purchase of investments
Net proceeds from sale of available for sale securities
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes
Repayments of notes payable
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options
Other financing activities, net
NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Effects of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

(2,412)

$

(3,431)

10,549
256
(5,865)
2,069
(40)
(1,317)
363

8,165
97
(954)
2,550
—
(3,748)
170

4,490
(6,124)
(3,527)
3,889
(639)
(91)

(6,733)
1,205
(1,841)
44
(393)
1,115

1,601

(3,754)

(3,336)
(2,500)
(3,702)
3,742

(2,651)
—
—
—

(5,796)

(2,651)

—
(212)
170
—

81,250
(282)
4,963
(105)

(42)
(133)

85,826
221

(4,370)
223,552

79,642
197,648

$

219,182

$

277,290

$

4,900

$

—

Significant non-cash operating and investing activities:
Accrued payable for transponder equipment purchase

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
Note 1.

Business

Global Eagle Entertainment Inc. ("GEE") is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Los Angeles, California. GEE together with its consolidated
subsidiaries are referred to herein as the “Company”. The Company's business is focused on providing Wi-Fi Internet Connectivity and Content to the travel
industry.
Connectivity
The Company's Connectivity service offering provides its airline partners and their passengers operational solutions and Wi-Fi connectivity over
Ku-band satellite transmissions. The Company's Connectivity segment offers specialized network equipment, media applications and premium content
services that allow airline passengers to access in-flight Internet, live television, on-demand content, shopping and travel-related information and operational
solutions that allow airlines to improve their internal operations.
Content
The Company's Content services offering selects, manages, provides lab services, and distributes wholly owned and licensed media content, video
and music programming, advertising, applications, and video games to airlines, as well as to the maritime and other away from home non-theatrical markets.
Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the accompanying condensed
consolidated financial statements.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying interim condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2016, the condensed consolidated statements of operations, the
condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive loss and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the three month periods ended
March 31, 2016 and 2015, and the condensed consolidated statement of stockholders' equity for the three month period ended March 31, 2016, are
unaudited.
In the opinion of the Company's management, the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same
basis as the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, and include all adjustments, which include only
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2016, and its
condensed consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the three month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015. The results for the three month
period ended March 31, 2016 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full year. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015
has been derived from the Company's audited financial statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC") on March 17, 2016 (the "2015 Form 10-K").
The interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to SEC Form 10-Q and Article 10 of SEC Regulation S-X.
They do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. Therefore, these financial statements should be
read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's 2015 Form 10-K.
Principles of Consolidation
The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned and majority-owned
subsidiaries. Acquisitions are included in the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition. The Company's
purchase accounting for acquisitions resulted in all assets and liabilities of acquired
6
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Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
businesses being recorded at their estimated fair values on the acquisition dates. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.
Investments that the Company has the ability to control, and where it is the primary beneficiary, are consolidated. Any investments in affiliates over
which the Company has the ability to exert significant influence, but does not control and it is not the primary beneficiary, are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Investments in affiliates for which the Company has no ability to exert significant influence are accounted for using the cost method
of accounting. The Company has no such affiliates at this time.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenue (allocated on the basis of the relative selling price of deliverables) and expenses during the reporting period. Significant
items subject to such estimates and assumptions include revenue, allowance for doubtful accounts, the assigned value of acquired assets and assumed and
contingent liabilities associated with business combinations, valuation of media content library and equipment inventory, useful lives and impairment of
property and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and other assets, the fair value of the Company's equity-based compensation awards and convertible debt
instruments, and deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. On an ongoing basis, the Company
evaluates its estimates compared to historical experience and trends, which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and
liabilities.
Segments of the Company
The Company reports its operations under two segments, Connectivity and Content. The Company's Connectivity segment provides airline
customers and their passengers Wi-Fi connectivity over Ku-band satellite transmissions and to a lesser extent this segment provides airlines with operations
data solutions. The Company's Content segment selects, manages, and distributes owned and licensed media content, certain digital media offerings, video
and music programming, applications, and video games to the airline, maritime and non-theatrical markets.
The decision to report under two segments is principally based upon how the Company's chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) manages the
Company's operations as two segments for purposes of evaluating financial performance and allocating resources. The CODM reviews revenue, cost of sales
expense, and contribution profit information separately for the Company's Connectivity and Content businesses. Total segment contribution profit provides
the CODM, investors and equity analysts a measure to analyze operating performance of each of the Company's business segments and its enterprise value
against historical data and competitors' data, although historical results may not be indicative of future results, as operating performance is highly contingent
on many factors, including customer tastes and preferences. All other financial information is reviewed by the CODM on a consolidated basis.
7
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Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
Segment revenue, expenses and contribution profit for the three month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 derived from the Company's
Content and Connectivity segments were as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,
2016
Content

Revenue:
Licensing and services
Equipment

$

83,606
—

2015

Connectivity

$

24,225
5,986

Consolidated

$

107,831
5,986

Content

$

71,650
—

Connectivity

$

22,200
6,455

Consolidated

$

93,850
6,455

Total revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales
Licensing and services
Equipment

83,606

30,211

113,817

71,650

28,655

100,305

55,637
—

15,757
5,374

71,394
5,374

50,002
—

13,698
5,726

63,700
5,726

Total Cost of sales

55,637

21,131

76,768

50,002

19,424

69,426

Contribution profit
Other operating expenses

27,969

9,080

37,049
42,042

21,648

9,231

30,879
34,909

Loss from operations

$

(4,993)

$

(4,030)

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when four basic criteria are met: persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement exists; performance of services has
occurred; the sales price is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company considers persuasive evidence of a sales
arrangement to be the receipt of a signed contract or standard purchase order. Collectability is assessed based on a number of factors, including transaction
history and the credit worthiness of a customer. If it is determined that the collection is not reasonably assured, revenue is not recognized until collection
becomes reasonably assured, which is generally upon receipt of cash. The Company records cash received in advance of revenue recognition as deferred
revenue.
For arrangements with multiple deliverables, the Company allocates revenue to each deliverable if the delivered item(s) has value to the customer on
a standalone basis and, if the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item, delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s)
is considered probable and substantially in the control of the Company. The fair value of the selling price for a deliverable is determined using a hierarchy of
(1) Company-specific objective and reliable evidence, then (2) third-party evidence, then (3) best estimate of selling price. The Company allocates any
arrangement fee to each of the elements based on their relative selling prices.
When the Company enters into revenue sharing arrangements where it acts as the primary obligor, the Company recognizes the underlying revenue
on a gross basis. In determining whether to report revenue gross for the amount of fees received from its customers, the Company assesses whether it maintains
the principal relationship, whether it bears credit risk and whether it has latitude in establishing prices with the customers, among other factors.
The Company's revenue is principally derived from the following services:
Connectivity
Equipment Revenue. Equipment revenue is recognized when title and risk pass to the buyer, which is generally upon shipment or arrival at
destination depending on the contractual arrangement with the customer. In determining whether an arrangement exists, the Company ensures that a binding
arrangement is in place, such as a standard purchase order or a fully executed customer-specific agreement. In cases where a customer has the contractual
ability to accept or return equipment within a specific time frame, the Company will provide for return reserves when and if necessary, based upon historical
experience.
8
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Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
In certain cases where the Company sells its equipment on a stand-alone basis, it may charge a fee for obtaining Supplemental Type Certificates
(“STC”) obtained from the Federal Aviation Administration, which allow its equipment to operate on certain model/type of aircraft. To the extent that the
Company contracts to charge STC fees in equipment-only sales, the Company will record these fees as revenue. No STC fee revenue was recognized during
the three months ended March 31, 2016 or March 31, 2015.
Included in equipment revenue are certain deferred obligations that exist pursuant to the Company's contractual arrangements, which typically
include, but are not limited to, technical support, regulatory support, network support and installation support. These support-based arrangements are
customarily bundled with the Company's contracts and are accounted for as a single unit of account. To the extent that these support services have value on a
standalone basis, the Company allocates revenue to each element in the arrangement based upon their relative fair values. Fair value is determined based
upon the best estimate of the selling price, and the fair value of undelivered elements is deferred and recognized over the performance or contractual period
and is included in equipment revenue. The most significant of the deferred obligations typically is network support, which includes 24/7 operational support
for the airlines for which the Company incurs significant and periodic external and internal costs to deliver on a daily basis.
Service Revenue. Connectivity service revenue includes in-flight Wi-Fi Internet services, live television, on-demand content, music streaming,
shopping and click-through advertising revenue from travel-related information. Service revenue is recognized after it has been rendered and the customer
can use the service, which customarily is in the form of (i) enplanement for boarded passengers, (ii) usage by passengers, depending upon the specific
contract, and/or (iii) other revenues such as advertising sponsorship. The Company assesses whether performance criteria have been met and whether its
service fees are fixed or determinable based on a reconciliation of the performance criteria and an analysis of the payment terms associated with the
transaction. The reconciliation of the performance criteria generally includes a comparison of third-party performance data to the contractual performance
obligation and to internal or customer performance data in circumstances where that data is available.
In certain cases, the Company records service revenue based on available and preliminary information from its network operations. Amounts
collected on the related receivables may vary from reported information based upon third party refinement of estimated and reported amounts owed that
generally occurs typically within thirty days of the period end. For all years presented, the difference between the amounts recognized based on preliminary
information and cash collected was not material.
Content
Licensing Revenue. Content licensing revenue is principally generated through the sale or license of media content, video and music programming,
applications, and video games to the airlines, maritime and non-theatrical markets, and to a lesser extent through various services such as encoding and
editing of media content. Revenue from the sale or license of content is recognized when the content has been delivered and the contractual performance
obligations have been fulfilled, generally at the time a customer's license period begins. For arrangements in which the license period commences after the
delivery of content, revenue is not recognized until the license period commences even if delivery and performance obligations have already occurred. In
certain cases, the Company estimates licensing revenues from airline customers. The Company believes it has the ability to reasonably estimate the amounts
that will ultimately be collected such that it recognizes these amounts when earned.
Services Revenue. Content services, such as technical services, delivery of digital media advertising, the encoding of video products, development
of graphical interfaces or the provision of materials, are billed and revenue is recognized as services are performed and/or when the committed advertisement
impressions have been delivered. Obligations pursuant to the Company’s advertising revenue arrangements typically include a minimum number of
impressions or the satisfaction of other performance criteria. Revenue from performance-based arrangements is recognized as the related performance criteria
are met. We assess whether performance criteria have been met and whether the fees are fixed or determinable based on a reconciliation of the performance
criteria and an analysis of the payment terms associated with the transaction. The reconciliation of the performance criteria generally includes a comparison
of third-party performance data to the contractual performance obligation and to internal or customer performance data in circumstances where that data is
available. Where we enter into revenue-sharing arrangements with our customers, such as those relating to our advertising on airplanes and in airline lounges,
and when we are considered the primary obligor, we report the underlying revenue on a gross basis in our consolidated statements of operations, and record
these revenue-sharing payments to our customers in service costs.
9
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
Costs of Sales
Connectivity
Connectivity costs of sales consist primarily of equipment fees paid to third party manufacturers, certain revenue recognized by the Company and
shared with its customers or partners as a result of its revenue-sharing arrangements, Internet connection and satellite charges and other platform operating
expenses associated with the Company's Connectivity business, including depreciation of internally developed software, website development costs,
hardware and services used to build and operate the Company's Connectivity platform, and personnel costs relating to information technology.
Content
Content cost of sales consist primarily of the costs to license or purchase media content, and direct costs to service content for the airlines. Included
in Content cost of sales is amortization expense associated with the purchase of film content libraries acquired in business combinations and in the ordinary
course of business of $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. There was no amortization expense included in Content cost of sales
associated with the purchase of film content libraries acquired in business combinations for the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Sales and marketing
Sales and marketing expense is primarily comprised of personnel costs related to the Company's sales and marketing staff, advertising costs,
including promotional events and other brand building and product marketing expenses, corporate communications, certain professional fees, occupancy
costs and travel expenses.
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 were not material.
Product Development
Product research and software development costs, other than certain internal-use software costs qualifying for capitalization, are expensed as
incurred. Costs of computer software or websites developed or obtained for internal use that are incurred in the preliminary project and post implementation
stages are expensed as incurred. Certain costs of developing internal-use software incurred during the application and development stage, which include
employee and outside consulting compensation and related expenses, costs of computer hardware and software, website development costs and costs incurred
in developing additional features and functionality of the services, are capitalized. The estimated useful life of costs capitalized is evaluated for each specific
project. Capitalized costs are generally amortized using the straight-line method over a three year estimated useful life, beginning in the period in which the
software is ready for its intended use. Unamortized amounts are included in property and equipment, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Capitalized software development costs totaled $1.1 million and $0.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The Company's product development expenditures are focused on developing new products and services, and obtaining STCs as required by the
Federal Aviation Administration for each model/type of aircraft prior to providing Connectivity services. To the extent that the Company is contracted to
obtain STCs, and customers reimburse these costs, the Company will record these reimbursements directly against its product development expenses.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as an expense over the requisite
service period, which is the vesting period, on a straight-line basis. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the grant date
fair value of stock options. This model requires the Company to estimate the expected volatility and the expected term of the stock options which are highly
complex and subjective variables. The variables take into consideration, among other things, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behavior.
The Company uses an expected volatility of its stock price during the expected life of the options that is based on the historical performance of the
Company's stock price as well as including an estimate using similar companies. Expected term is computed using the simplified method as the Company's
best estimate given its lack of actual exercise history. The Company has selected a risk-free rate based
10
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
on the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury securities with a maturity equivalent to the expected term of the stock. Stock-based awards are comprised
principally of stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs").
Stock option awards issued to non-employees are accounted for at fair value determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Management believes that the fair value of the stock options is more reliably measured than the fair value of the services received. The fair value of each nonemployee stock-based compensation award is re-measured each period until performance is completed, which generally is the vesting date.
Stock Repurchases
Shares of the Company's stock repurchased by the Company are accounted for when the transaction is settled. Repurchased shares held for future
issuance are classified as treasury stock. Shares formally or constructively retired are deducted from common stock at par value and from additional paid in
capital for the excess of cash paid over par value. If additional paid in capital has been exhausted, the excess over par value is deducted from retained
earnings. Direct costs incurred to acquire the shares are included in the total cost of the repurchased shares.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an initial maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents.
Restricted Cash
The Company maintains certain letters of credit agreements with its airlines partners, which are secured by the Company’s cash for periods of less
than one year and up to three years. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company had restricted cash of $3.0 million and $4.4 million,
respectively. As of March 31, 2016 there was no restricted cash included in other current assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of
December 31, 2015 there was $2.3 million of restricted cash included in other current assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of March 31,
2016 and December 31, 2015, there was $3.0 million and $2.1 million of restricted cash included in other non-current assets, respectively, in the condensed
consolidated balance sheets.
Investment securities
Marketable investment securities, all of which are considered available-for-sale and, accordingly, are stated at fair value based on market quotes.
Unrealized gains and losses, net of deferred taxes, have not been significant and are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income.
Long-Lived Assets
The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets with finite useful lives, including its infinite lived intangible assets acquired in
business combinations, for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable.
Such trigger events or changes in circumstances may include: a significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived asset, a significant adverse change in
the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset is being used, significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, including those resulting
from technology advancements in the industry, the impact of competition or other factors that could affect the value of a long-lived asset, a significant
adverse deterioration in the amount of revenue or cash flows we expect to generate from an asset group, an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of
the amount originally expected for the acquisition or development of a long-lived asset, current or future operating or cash flow losses that demonstrate
continuing losses associated with the use of a long-lived asset, or a current expectation that, more likely than not, a long-lived asset will be sold or otherwise
disposed of significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life. The Company performs impairment testing at the asset group level that
represents the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable and the expected undiscounted future cash flows attributable to the
asset group are less than the carrying amount of the asset group, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset's carrying value over its fair value is
recorded. Fair value is determined based upon estimated discounted future cash flows. Through March 31, 2016, the Company has identified no such
impairment loss. Assets to be disposed of would be separately
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presented on the balance sheets and reported at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and would no longer be depreciated or
amortized.
Inventory
Equipment inventory. Equipment inventory, which is classified as finished goods, is comprised of individual equipment parts and assemblies and are
stated at the lower of cost or market. The Company provides inventory write-downs based on excess and obsolete inventories determined primarily by future
demand forecasts. The write-down is measured as the difference between the cost of the inventory and market, based upon assumptions about future demand
and charged to the provision for inventory, which is a component of cost of goods sold. At the point of the loss recognition, a new, lower cost basis for that
inventory is established, and subsequent changes in facts and circumstances do not result in the restoration or increase in that newly established cost basis.
A t March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there was approximately $7.7 million and $7.8 million, respectively, of deferred equipment costs
included in inventory and other non-current assets. The deferred equipment costs pertain to certain costs expended in advance of services for certain airlines,
and are being amortized ratably over the underlying term of the agreement through 2020.
The Company generally is not directly responsible for warranty costs related to equipment it sells to its customers. The vendors that supply each of
the individual parts, which comprise the assemblies sold by the Company to customers, are responsible for equipment warranty directly to the customer.
Content Library
The useful life of licensed film rights within the content library corresponds to the respective period over which the film rights will be licensed and
generate revenues, generally a period of one year or less. Licensed film rights are amortized ratably over their expected revenue streams and included in cost
of sales. Certain film rights in the Company's portfolio may be used in perpetuity under certain conditions.
Additions to the content library represent minimum guaranteed amounts or flat fees to acquire the distribution film rights from film studios. Amounts
owed in excess of the capitalized minimum guarantees are expensed and accrued as a liability when the Company's revenues from exploiting the film right
have fully recouped the minimum guarantee based on the contractual royalty rates.
The content library is tested for impairment periodically, but no less than annually. Considering the marketability of the given film right, an
impairment loss is recognized as necessary. If the estimated future cash flows for a given film right are lower than its carrying amount as of the reporting date,
an impairment loss is recognized in such period.
Property, Plant, & Equipment, net
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and/or impairment losses. Straight-line depreciation is based on the
underlying assets' useful lives. The estimated useful life of technical and operating equipment is 3 to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on the
straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining lease term or estimated useful life of the asset. Buildings are amortized on the straight-line method over
30 years.
Upon the sale or retirement of property or equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the
Company's financial statements with the resulting gain or loss reflected in the Company's results of operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed
as incurred.
In 2013, the Company capitalized the costs of certain Connectivity equipment, which is installed on aircraft of a single customer to facilitate
expanded services, on its balance sheet as the Company retains legal title to the equipment over a five-year use period, and is amortizing these costs over
their five-year useful life period.
Intangible Assets and Goodwill
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The Company performs valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on each acquisition accounted for as a business combination, and
allocates the purchase price of each acquired business to its respective net tangible and intangible assets. Acquired intangible assets principally include
customer relationships, technology, and content library. The Company determines the appropriate useful life by performing an analysis of expected cash
flows based on historical experience of the acquired businesses. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line
method, which approximates the pattern in which the majority of the economic benefits are expected to be consumed. Amortization of film rights intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations under cost of sales.
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the fair value of the acquired net assets. Goodwill is not amortized, instead it is
tested for impairment annually or when events or circumstances change that would indicate that goodwill might be impaired. Events or circumstances that
could trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, an adverse action or
assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel, significant changes in the manner of the Company's use of the acquired assets
or the strategy for the Company's overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends or significant under-performance relative to expected
historical or projected future results of operations.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is one level below or the same as an operating segment. The Company
determined that it has two reporting units, Content and Connectivity. When testing goodwill for impairment, the Company first performs a qualitative
assessment to determine whether it is necessary to perform step one of a two-step annual goodwill impairment test for each reporting unit. The Company is
required to perform step one only if it concludes that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value. Should this be
the case, the first step of the two-step process is to identify whether a potential impairment exists by comparing the estimated fair values of the Company's
reporting units with their respective book values, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeds book value, goodwill is
considered not to be impaired, and no additional steps are necessary. If, however, the fair value of the reporting unit is less than book value, then the second
step is performed to determine if goodwill is impaired and to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The amount of the impairment loss is the excess
of the carrying amount of the goodwill over its implied fair value. The estimate of implied fair value of goodwill is primarily based on an estimate of the
discounted cash flows expected to result from that reporting unit, but may require valuations of certain internally generated and unrecognized intangible
assets such as the Company's software, technology, patents and trademarks. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess.
As of March 31, 2016, of the $93.1 million total goodwill, $73.8 million and $19.3 million was attributed to the Company's Content and
Connectivity segments, respectively. The Company's most recent annual impairment analysis was performed in the fourth quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2015 and indicated that there was no impairment of goodwill at that time. Through March 31, 2016, the Company has identified no
impairment indicators associated with its goodwill.
Business Acquisitions
The Company accounts for acquisitions of businesses using the purchase method of accounting where the cost is allocated to the underlying net
tangible and intangible assets acquired, based on their respective estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair value of certain acquired assets and liabilities is subjective in nature and often involves the
use of significant estimates and assumptions, including, but not limited to, the selection of appropriate valuation methodology, projected revenue, expenses
and cash flows, weighted average cost of capital, discount rates, estimates of advertiser and publisher turnover rates and estimates of terminal values.
Additionally, any non-controlling interests in an acquired business are recorded at their acquisition date fair values. Business acquisitions are included in the
Company's condensed consolidated financial statements as of the date of the acquisition.
Deferred Revenue and Costs
Deferred revenue consists substantially of amounts received from customers in advance of the Company's performance service period and fees
deferred for future support services. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue on a systematic basis that is proportionate to the period that the underlying
services are rendered, which in certain arrangements is straight line over the remaining contractual term or estimated customer life of an agreement.
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In the event the Company sells its equipment at or below its cost, and a portion of the related equipment revenue was allocated to other elements in
the arrangement, the Company will defer an equal amount of such equipment costs on its balance sheets. Deferred costs are amortized to expense concurrent
with the recognition of the related revenue and the expense is included in cost of sales.
Net Loss Per Share
Basic loss per share (EPS) is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is
computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and the dilutive effect of contingent shares outstanding during the period. Potentially
dilutive contingent shares, which primarily consist of stock options, restricted stock units, liability warrants, warrants issued to third parties and accounted for
as equity instruments and convertible senior notes, have been excluded from the diluted income (loss) per share calculation because their effect is antidilutive. As illustrated in the table below, the change in the fair value of the Company’s warrants, which are assumed to be converted into the Company’s
common stock upon exercise, are adjusted to net income for purposes of computing dilutive loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2015.
Common shares to be issued upon the exercise of warrant instruments classified as liabilities are included in the calculation of diluted loss per share when
dilutive.
The computation for basic and diluted EPS was as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016
Net loss (numerator):
Net loss for basic EPS

$

(2,412)

$

(2,412)

Less: adjustment for change in fair value on warrants liability for diluted EPS after assumed exercise of
warrants liability
Net loss for dilutive EPS

2015
$

(3,431)

$

(4,385)

—

954

Shares (denominator):
Weighted-average shares for basic EPS
Effect of assumed exercise of warrants liability

78,643
—

76,874
1,851

Adjusted weighted-average share for diluted EPS

78,643

78,725

Basic loss per share

$

(0.03)

$

(0.04)

Diluted loss per share

$

(0.03)

$

(0.06)
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Securities not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2016
Stock options
Restricted stock units
Non-employee stock options
Equity warrants
Liability warrants
Convertible notes

2015
5,550
242
—
88
6,173
4,447

2,708
25
3
537
—
2,026

Foreign Currency
The vast majority of the Company's foreign subsidiaries’ customers are airlines and major U.S.-based studios. As the standard currency of transacting
for service revenue and related costs of the worldwide airline industry is the U.S. Dollar, the Company concluded that the financial position and results of
operations of the majority of its foreign subsidiaries are determined using the U.S. dollar currency as the functional currency. Current or liquid assets and
liabilities of these subsidiaries are remeasured at the exchange rate in effect at each period end. Long term assets such as goodwill, purchased intangibles and
property and equipment are remeasured at historical exchange rates. The vast majority of the income statement accounts are remeasured at the spot rate, with
the exception of amortization and depreciation expense, which are remeasured using historical exchange rates. Adjustments arising from the fluctuations in
exchange rates for the remeasurement of financial statements from period to period are included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and the amounts that are reported in the income tax returns. Deferred taxes are evaluated for realization on a jurisdictional basis. The Company
records valuation allowances to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In making this assessment, management
analyzes future taxable income, reversing temporary differences and ongoing tax planning strategies. Should a change in circumstances lead to a change in
judgment about the realizability of deferred tax assets in future years, the Company will adjust related valuation allowances in the period that the change in
circumstances occurs, along with a corresponding increase or charge to income.
The Company is subject to the accounting guidance for uncertain income tax positions. The Company's policy for recording interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax positions is to record such items as a component of income tax expense.
Fair Value Measurements
The accounting guidance for fair value establishes a framework for measuring fair value and establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy for
disclosure of fair value measurement. The valuation hierarchy is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the
measurement date. The three levels are defined as follows:
•

Level 1: Observable quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

•

Level 2: Observable quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market.

•

Level 3: Model-based techniques that use at least one significant assumption not observable in the market. These unobservable
assumptions reflect estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing
15
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the asset or liability. Valuation techniques include use of option pricing models, discounted cash flow models, and similar techniques.
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The assets and liabilities which are fair valued on a recurring basis are described below and contained in the following
tables. In addition, the Company may be required to record other assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These non-recurring fair value
adjustments involve the lower of carrying value or fair value accounting and write downs resulting from impairment of assets.
The following tables summarize the Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2016, and
December 31, 2015, respectively (in thousands):

Quotes Prices in Active
Markets (Level 1)

March 31, 2016

Significant Other Observable
Inputs (Level 2)

Significant Other
Unobservable Inputs (Level
3)

Earn-out liability (1)
Public warrants (2)

$

9,073
18,211

$

—
18,211

$

—
—

$

9,073
—

Total financial liabilities

$

27,284

$

18,211

$

—

$

9,073

Quotes Prices in Active
Markets (Level 1)

December 31, 2015

Significant Other Observable
Inputs (Level 2)

Significant Other
Unobservable Inputs (Level
3)

Earn-out liability (1)
Public warrants (2)

$

9,652
24,076

$

—
24,076

$

—
—

$

9,652
—

Total financial liabilities

$

33,728

$

24,076

$

—

$

9,652

(1) Includes $9.1 million and $9.7 million as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, of earn-out liability for the Company's acquisitions of Western
Outdoor Interactive Pvt. Ltd. ("WOI"), certain assets of RMG Networks Holding Corporation (the "RMG Assets"), navAero AB ("navAero") and Marks Systems, Inc.
doing business as masFlight ("masFlight") assumed in business combinations for the year ended December 31, 2015.
(2) Includes 6,173,228 warrants originally issued in our initial public offering ("public warrants").

The following table presents the fair value roll-forward reconciliation of level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value basis for the period
ended March 31, 2016 (in thousands):
Earn-Out Liability
Balance, December 31, 2015
Change in value

$

9,652
(579)

Balance, March 31, 2016

$

9,073

The valuation methodology used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments in the table above is summarized as follows:
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Earn-Out Liability. The March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 fair values of the earn-out liabilities was comprised of earn-out liabilities associated
with WOI, the RMG Assets, navAero and masFlight business combinations. The earn-out liabilities are estimated by using the income approach. Based on the
respective purchase agreements, management estimated best case, base case, and worst case scenarios and discounted it to a present value. The sum of the
discounted weighted average probabilities was used to arrive at the fair value of the earn-out liability. The current and non-current portions of the total earnout liabilities are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other non-current liabilities, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Derivative Warrants. The fair value of the outstanding public warrants issued in our initial public offering ("public warrants"), recorded as derivative
warrant liabilities, is determined by the Company using the quoted market prices for the public warrants, which are traded over the counter. On reporting
dates where there are no active trades, the Company uses the last reported closing trade price of the public warrants to determine the fair value. The Company
recorded income from the change in the fair value of these warrants during the three months periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 of $5.9 million and $1.0
million, respectively.
Financial Liabilities. The following table shows both the carrying amounts, which approximate the fair values, of the Company's financial liabilities
in the condensed consolidated financial statements at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively (in thousands):
March 31, 2016
Carrying Amount

Financial liabilities:
Convertible senior notes (1)
Notes payable

$
$

68,507
2,018

December 31, 2015

Fair Value

$
$

62,700
2,018

Carrying Amount

$
$

68,335
2,229

Fair Value

$
$

78,557
2,229

(1) The fair value of the convertible senior notes is exclusive of the conversion feature, which was originally allocated for reporting purposes at $13.0 million, and is included in the
condensed consolidated balance sheets within "Additional paid-in capital" (see Note 11).

Convertible Senior Notes
The estimated fair value of the convertible senior notes, which are classified as level 2 financial instruments, was determined based on the quoted
bid price of the notes in an over-the-counter market on March 31, 2016.
Notes Payable
The Company classifies the notes payable within the level 2 of the fair value hierarchy because it uses discount rates for similar credit-rated
companies that are publicly available and widely observable as an input to estimate fair value. The fair value presented above is calculated based on the
present value of expected principal and interest cash flows given the short term nature of its maturity.
Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements and Reclassification of Debt Issuance Costs
In April 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2015-03, Interest—
Imputation of Interest: Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, amending the existing accounting standards for the presentation of debt issuance
costs in the statement of financial position. The amendment requires debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability to be presented in the balance
sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with the treatment of a debt discount. We adopted this new guidance in
the first quarter of 2016 as required, applying it on a retrospective basis for all balance sheet periods presented.
This change in accounting principle will result in a more transparent presentation of debt as debt issuance costs are similar in nature to debt
discounts and in effect reduce the proceeds of borrowings as well as impact the effective interest rate on the related debt. Prior to this change in accounting
principle, debt issuance costs were included in "Other non-current assets" in the consolidated balance sheets.
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The table below shows the effect of the reclassification of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with our convertible senior notes in our
previously reported consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):
As presented December
31, 2015
Other non-current assets
Notes payable and accrued interest, non-current

$

13,702
71,493

Reclassifications
$

(1,678)
(1,678)

As adjusted December 31,
2015
$

12,024
69,815

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period
Adjustments (“ASU 2015-16”). ASU 2015-16 eliminates the requirement to retrospectively account for adjustments to provisional amounts within the
measurement period recognized at the acquisition date in a business combination. ASU 2015-16 requires that these adjustments be recognized in the
reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined and be calculated as if the accounting had been completed as of the acquisition date. ASU
2015-16 was effective prospectively for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of ASU
2015-16 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis ("ASU 201502"). ASU 2015-02 amends the consolidation guidance for variable interest entities and voting interest entities, among other items, by eliminating the
consolidation model previously applied to limited partnerships, emphasizing the risk of loss when determining a controlling financial interest and reducing
the frequency of the application of related-party guidance when determining a controlling financial interest. ASU 2015-02 is effective for periods beginning
after December 15, 2015, for public companies. The adoption of ASU 2015-02 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 781), Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting ("ASU 2016-09"), which amends and simplifies the accounting for share-based payment awards in three areas; (1) income tax
consequences, (2) classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and (3) classification on the statement of cash flows. For public companies, ASU
2016-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. We are currently evaluating the
impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) ("ASU 2016-02"). This update will require lease assets and lease liabilities
to be recognized on the balance sheet and disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements. ASU 2016-02 is effective for the Company commencing
in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 and must be adopted using a modified retrospective transition, and provides for certain practical expedients. Early adoption
is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory (“ASU 2015-11”). ASU 2015-11
requires that inventory measured using any method other than last-in, first out (“LIFO”) or the retail inventory method to be subsequently measured at the
lower of cost or net realizable value, rather than at the lower of cost or market value. Under this ASU, subsequent measurement of inventory using the LIFO
and retail inventory method is unchanged. ASU 2015-11 is effective prospectively for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those years, beginning after
December15, 2016. Early application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on its consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"), which will supersede nearly all existing
revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue when it transfers promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Further, the guidance requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue that is recognized. The original effective date for ASU 2014-09 would have required the Company to adopt this standard beginning in
the first quarter of 2017. In July 2015, the FASB voted to amend ASU 2014-09 by approving a one-year
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deferral of the effective date as well as providing the option to early adopt the standard on the original effective date. Accordingly, the Company may not
adopt the standard until the first quarter of 2018. The new revenue standard may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect recognized as of the date of adoption. We are currently evaluating the timing of its adoption and the impact of adopting the new
revenue standard on our consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3. Business Combinations
During the quarter ended September 30, 2015, the Company completed four acquisitions. The following table summarizes the preliminary fair value
of the assets and liabilities assumed in the acquisitions (in thousands):

Weighted Average
Useful Life (Years)
Goodwill
Customer relationships
Developed technology
Trade name
Accounts receivable
Property and equipment
Deferred tax liability (preliminary)
Accrued expenses
Other liabilities assumed, net of assets acquired
(preliminary)

Amounts at December
31, 2015
(Preliminary)
$

41,093
14,000
21,900
200
6,450
1,783
(11,047)
(4,379)

$

68,331

7.6
5.7
5.0

Adjustments
$

(1,669)

Total consideration transferred

Purchase Price
Allocation, as
Adjusted

(812)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

40,281
14,000
21,900
200
6,450
1,783
(11,047)
(4,379)

$

68,331

812
$

—

(857)

During the quarter ended March 31, 2016, the Company revised its analysis of the fair value of its acquisitions. The revised analysis related to a preacquisition contingency that was recently identified relating to a change in the Company's ability to recover amounts held in escrow by the seller of the
RMG Assets. Due to the preliminary nature of the financial results prior to each of the acquisitions in 2015, the Company was unable to provide an accurate
assessment of certain deferred tax assets, deferred tax liabilities and estimated income taxes payable for the period(s) prior to each acquisition date. As such,
these balances are considered preliminary at March 31, 2016 and are expected to be finalized by June 30, 2016.
Note 4. Goodwill
The following table presents the changes in the Company’s goodwill balance for the periods presented (in thousands).
Balance at December 31, 2015
Adjustment to RMG goodwill
Currency translation adjustment

$

93,796
(812)
67

Balance at March 31, 2016

$

93,051

Note 5. Intangible Assets, net
As a result of the business combinations in 2013, 2014 and 2015 (the "Business Combination"), the Company acquired definite-lived intangible
assets that are primarily amortized on a straight-line basis. The Company's definite-lived intangible assets have assigned useful lives ranging from 1.5 to 8
years (weighted average of 5.5 years).
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Intangible assets, net at March 31, 2016, consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31, 2016
Weighted
Average Useful
Lives
Intangible assets:
Definite life:
Existing technology - software
Existing technology - games
Developed technology
Customer relationships
Other
Content library (acquired in Business Combination)
Content library (acquired post Business Combination)
Total intangible assets

5.8 years
5 years
8 years
7.5 years
3.7 years
1.5 years
1.5 years

Gross Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

$

24,475 $
12,331
7,317
133,653
7,416
14,298
54,780

4,034 $
7,809
2,287
55,533
5,293
14,298
35,334

20,441
4,522
5,030
78,120
2,123
—
19,446

$

254,270 $

124,588 $

129,682

(1)

December 31, 2015
Weighted
Average Useful
Lives
Intangible assets:
Definite life:
Existing technology - software
Existing technology - games
Developed technology
Customer relationships
Other
Content library (acquired in Business Combination)
Content library (acquired post Business Combination)
Total intangible assets

5.8 years
5.0 years
8.0 years
7.5 years
3.7 years
1.5 years
1.5 years

Gross Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

$

24,474 $
12,331
7,317
133,566
7,399
14,298
49,599

2,978 $
7,193
2,058
50,184
4,991
14,298
33,515

21,496
5,138
5,259
83,382
2,408
—
16,084

$

248,984 $

115,217 $

133,767

(1)

(1) Useful estimate based upon the content library acquired in the business combination in which the Company acquired Row 44, Inc. ("Row 44") and 86% of the shares of
Advanced Inflight Alliance AG ("AIA") (the "Business Combination"), which approximates historical experience.

Content library that is expected to be licensed and generates revenues within the next twelve months is classified as Content library, current, on the
Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015. The remainder of content library is classified and included
within the intangible asset amount. The Company expects to record amortization of the intangible assets as follows (in thousands):
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Year ending December 31,

Amount

2016 (remaining nine months)

$

33,802
32,409
21,524
15,834
14,363
11,750

$

129,682

2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter
Total

The Company recorded amortization expense of $7.4 million and $6.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Amortization expense excludes the amortization of the content library, which is included in cost of sales.
Note 6. Available For Sale (“AFS”) Securities
During the three months ended March 31, 2016, the Company purchased and sold AFS securities for proceeds of approximately $3.7 million and
recognized a de minimis gain from the sale.
Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies
Movie License and Internet Protocol Television (IPTV) Commitments
In the ordinary course of business, the Company has certain long-term commitments, including movie license fees and guaranteed minimum
payments owed to movie content providers. In addition, the Company has certain long-term arrangements with service and television providers to license and
provide content and IPTV services that are subject to future guaranteed minimum payments.
Operating Lease Commitments
The Company leases its operating facilities under noncancelable operating leases that expire through 2025. The Company also leases certain
facilities and vehicles under month-to-month arrangements. Total rent expense for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 was $1.1 million and
$0.9 million, respectively. The Company is responsible for certain operating expenses in connection with these leases.
Satellite Cost Commitments
During the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had in place a Master Services Agreement with its satellite service provider
to provide for satellite capacity over Russia, the North Atlantic and for expansion of its existing capacity in the U.S. and Europe. The Company expenses
these satellite fees in the month the service is provided as a charge to cost of services.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company entered into a satellite service agreement with New Skies Satellites B.V. (“SES”), as
amended to provide global, Ku-band satellite bandwidth to GEE for use in GEE’s in-flight connectivity system. The SES agreement required the Company to
make an up-front pre-payment of $4.0 million as well as one additional pre-payment of $4.5 million due and paid in January 2016. During the three months
ended March 31, 2015, the Company entered into an agreement with Hughes Network Systems, LLC (“HNS”) to administer and assume the underlying
obligations under the SES agreement, and transferred its first $4.0 million SES prepayment to HNS. The upfront $4.0 million pre-payment was applied to
certain service fees through February 2016, while the $4.5 million prepaid made in January 2016 will be applied to certain future services expected to launch
in 2017. In March 2016, the Company and HNS entered into an additional agreement under which HNS will deliver satellite connectivity for the Company’s
next-generation, multi-band airborne services utilizing the high-throughput Ka-band Jupiter constellation of satellites. There is no cost commitment under
this contract at this time because the Company has not commenced Ka-band operations to date and costs are based on actual usage.
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Legal Matters
On May 6, 2014, UMG Recordings, Inc., Capitol Records, Universal Music Corp. and entities affiliated with the foregoing (collectively, “UMG”)
filed suit in the United States District Court for the Central District of California (the “Court”) against the Company and Inflight Productions Ltd. (“IFP”) for
copyright infringement and related claims and unspecified money damages. IFP is a direct subsidiary of Global Entertainment AG (formally AIA) and an
indirect subsidiary of the Company. On April 20, 2016, the Court issued a decision granting UMG’s motion for partial summary judgment, finding that the
Company and IFP willfully infringed UMG’s copyrights. The Company and UMG have scheduled a mediation for June 2016. If the matter is not resolved by
settlement, damages will be determined at a trial currently scheduled during July 2016. The Company intends to vigorously defend the case, including by
appealing the summary judgment decision and ultimate damages award. If the UMG case proceeds to a damages trial, and the corresponding summary
judgment decision remains intact, the estimated range for copyright infringement damages varies between $750 and $150,000 per infringed work. UMG has
alleged the Company infringed over 4,000 works. In the event the Company appeals the results of the damages trial, the Company must post a bond (likely
cash collateralized) up to the amount of awarded damages. While the Company believes it has meritorious defenses, and intends to vigorously defend itself
in this matter, the Company is unable to reasonably predict an outcome and estimate of the potential range of loss in this matter with precision. The outcome
of this matter could also have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
On July 1, 2014, American Airlines, Inc. (“American”) filed suit in Texas State Court against IFP, and filed an amended complaint on October 29,
2014, for breach of contract and seeking a declaration that IFP must defend and indemnify American against claims that UMG and others may assert against
American for copyright infringement insofar as such claims arise out of American’s use of content provided by IFP. The American lawsuit seeks unspecified
money damages and liquidated damages, as well as attorney’s fees. IFP has counterclaimed on the basis that it believes it previously reached a settlement
with American on this matter. IFP intends to vigorously defend itself against the American lawsuit and prosecute its counterclaim. The outcome of this matter
is inherently uncertain and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
On August 14, 2014, SwiftAir, LLC filed suit against our wholly owned subsidiary Row 44, Inc. and one of its customers for breach of contract,
quantum meruit, unjust enrichment and similar claims and unspecified money damages in the Superior Court of California for the Country of Los Angeles.
SwiftAir and Row 44 had a contractual relationship, which Row 44 terminated in 2013, with respect to the provision of destination deal content to one of
Row 44’s connectivity customers. Based on currently available information, the Company believes that Row 44 has strong defenses and intends to defend
vigorously against this lawsuit, but the outcome of this matter is inherently uncertain and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. As of March 31, 2016, the potential range of loss related to this matter cannot be determined.
In addition, from time to time we are party to various legal matters incidental to the conduct of our business. Certain of our outstanding legal matters
include speculative claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. We record a liability when we believe that it is probable that a loss has been incurred and
the amount can be reasonably estimated. While the resolution of the above matters cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not believe, based
on current knowledge, that the outcome of the currently pending claims or legal proceedings in which the Company is currently involved will have a
material adverse effect on the Company's financial statements.
Earn-out and Equipment Purchase Commitments
Through the acquisitions of WOI, the RMG Assets, masFlight and navAero, the Company assumed certain obligations with respect to future
contingent earn-outs. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the total liability was approximately $9.1 million and $9.7 million, respectively, with
potential payouts occurring through 2020. Through its normal course of business, the Company enters into future purchase commitments with its equipment
vendors to secure future inventory for its airlines customers.
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Note 8. Related Party Transactions
Loan Agreement
On February 24, 2016, the Company entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with a third party that provides in-flight entertainment
systems to airlines (the "Loan Party"). The Loan Party is majority owned by PAR Investment Partners, L.P., or PAR, who beneficially owned
approximately 38% of our outstanding shares of common stock as of March 31, 2016. The Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors is also a Managing
Partner of PAR and a member of the board of directors of the Loan Party.
The Loan Agreement provides for the loan by the Company to the Loan Party of up to $5.0 million. The Company's Board of Directors considered
the entry into the Loan Agreement under the Company’s policies and procedures regarding related person transactions, and determined that it was
appropriate and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to enter into the Loan Agreement due to the Loan Party’s position as a supplier to
flydubai, a connectivity customer of the Company, and the Loan Party’s future business prospects. Our Board of Directors further determined that the parties’
relationships did not give rise to any material conflict of interest in entering into the Loan Agreement.
The Loan Agreement qualifies the Loan Party as a variable interest entity to the Company. In accordance with ASC 810, Consolidation, the
Company was not deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the Loan Party as the Company does not hold any power over the Loan Party's activities that most
significantly impact its economic performance. Therefore, the Loan Party is not subject to consolidation. The maximum exposure to loss as a result of the
Loan Agreement is the outstanding principle balance and any accrued interest.
The Senior Secured Promissory Note bears annual interest at a rate of 15%. The principle amount and accrued interest are payable in full December
31, 2016. As of March 31, 2016, the outstanding principle balance of the loan was $2.6 million, inclusive of a $0.1 million origination fee. Accrued interest
receivable on the Senior Secured Promissory Note as of March 31, 2016 was less than $0.1 million. In April 2016, the Company funded an additional $1.0
million under its Loan Agreement, bringing cumulative funding to $3.5 million as of May 9, 2016.
Subscription Receivable with Employee
The Company has an agreement with a former officer of Row 44 to stock-settle his note receivable and accrued interest, which amounted to $0.5
million, in exchange for certain shares of Row 44's common stock held by the officer. At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the balance of the former
officer’s receivables amounted to $0.5 million and is presented as subscriptions receivable. The Company recognizes interest income when earned, using the
simple interest method. Interest amounts recognized by the Company during the three months ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 were not material.
The Company makes ongoing assessments regarding the collectability of the notes receivable and subscriptions receivable balances.
Administrative Services
One of the Company's subsidiaries rents office space belonging to a company in which a former member of such subsidiary's management has an
ownership interest. The former member of management sold his interest in the office during the third quarter of 2015. There were no unpaid lease liabilities as
of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015. The Company recognized rent expense of $0.1 million each for the three month periods ended March 31, 2016
and 2015, respectively.
Office Lease Agreement with Employee
In connection with the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Post Modern Edit, LLC and related entities ("PMG") in 2013, the Company
acquired an office lease in a building that is currently being occupied and used as part of operations in Irvine, California. This building is majority owned by
one of the founding members of PMG, who was an employee of the Company through March 2015. The lease terminates on March 31, 2024. The total rental
expense incurred during the three months periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 was less than $0.1 million.
PMG Post-Closing Payment
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In connection with the Company's purchase of substantially all of the assets of PMG in June 2013, the Company agreed to a post-closing payment
based on the fulfillment of certain post-closing employment obligations by certain PMG executives (the "PMG Earn Out"), which the Company is required to
account for as compensation to the sellers and is recognized as an expense, over the requisite service period. In June 2014, the Company modified the PMG
Earn Out to waive the PMG Earn Out and certain other purchase obligations and PMG seller rights in exchange for cash consideration of $2.5 million (the
“Additional PMG Consideration”). Fifty percent of the additional PMG Consideration was payable after 10 days from closing, and the remaining $1.25
million was payable in four quarterly installments through the first half of 2015. At December 31, 2014, the remaining outstanding balance was
approximately $0.9 million. During the quarter ended March 31, 2015, the Company further modified the PMG Earn Out to accelerate the payment of the
remaining $0.6 million payment to April 2015. As the PMG Earn Out was settled in 2015, there was no outstanding balance on the PMG Earn Out as
of March 31, 2016.
masFlight Earn-Out
In August 2015, the Company acquired masFlight for approximately $10.3 million in cash and $9.3 million in contingent consideration. As a
portion of the contingent consideration is subject to future employment of certain employees of masFlight, certain contingent consideration is recorded as
compensation expense prospective to the acquisition date. During the three months ended March 31, 2016, the Company recognized compensation expense
of $0.1 million relating to the masFlight contingent consideration. As of March 31, 2016, the earn-out liability was $0.6 million.
AIA Earn-Out
The Company recognized an expense of $1.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2014 as a result of the
remeasurement of the fair value of the earn-out liability acquired in the AIA stock acquisition. The earn-out was payable to one of the former managing
directors at Entertainment in Motion, a wholly owned subsidiary. At March 31, 2015, the outstanding balance relating to the earn-out liability was $1.7
million. The earn-out liability was paid and fully settled during the year ended December 31, 2015. As of March 31, 2016, there was no outstanding balance
owed on this earn-out.
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Note 9. Common Stock, Stock Options and Warrants
Share Repurchase Program
In March 2016, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program under which we the Company may repurchase up to $50.0
million of its common stock. Under the stock repurchase program, the Company may repurchase shares from time to time using a variety of methods, which
may include open-market purchases and privately negotiated transactions. The extent to which the Company repurchases its shares, and the timing and
manner of such repurchases, will depend upon a variety of factors, including market conditions, regulatory requirements and other corporate considerations,
as determined by management. The Company regularly reviews potential growth opportunities both within its existing business and through acquisitions
and all potential buybacks will be measured against other potential uses of capital that meet our investment criteria and which may arise from time to time.
The repurchase program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any specific number of shares, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The
Company expects to finance any purchases with existing cash on hand, cash from operations and potential additional borrowings. During the three months
ended March 31, 2016, there were no share repurchases.
Stock Options
Under the Company's 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, (as amended and restated from time to time, the "Plan"), the Administrator of the Plan, which is the
compensation committee of the Company's board of directors, may grant up to 9,000,000 stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other
incentive awards to employees, officers, non-employee directors, and consultants, and such options or awards may be designated as incentive or nonqualified stock options at the discretion of the Administrator. The exercise price of stock option awards granted is equal to the per share closing price of the
common stock on the date the options were granted. Stock option awards generally vest over one to four years, expire five years from date of grant and certain
stock option awards have accelerated vesting provisions in the event of a change in control and termination without cause.
Fair values of the stock options at March 31, 2016 and 2015 were determined using the Black-Scholes model and the following weighted average
assumptions:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016
Common stock price on grant date
Expected life (in years)
Risk-free interest rate
Expected stock volatility
Expected dividend yield
Fair value of stock options granted

2015
$9.22
3.8
1.24%
44.6%
—%
$3.23

$13.14
4.0
1.31%
50%
—%
$5.37

Stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2016 is as follows:

Global Eagle Stock Option Plan

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Shares (in thousands)

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Term (in
years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (in thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2016
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

5,625
599
(26)
(81)

$
$
$
$

11.20
9.22
9.87
12.34

Outstanding at March 31, 2016

6,117

$

11.00

3.17

$

2

Vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2016

5,544

$

10.97

3.09

$

1

Exercisable at March 31, 2016

2,898

$

10.77

2.64

$

—
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Restricted Stock Units
Under the Plan, restricted stock unit awards that can be granted to employees, officers and consultants vest 1/4 th annually on the grant anniversary
date over a 4-year term. Restricted stock unit awards granted to non-employee directors vest monthly over 13 months from the grant date. The grant date fair
value of an RSU equals the closing price of the Company's common stock on the grant date.
The following summarizes select information regarding our RSUs during the three months ended March 31, 2016:
Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Units (in thousands)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (in thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2016
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

408
269
(32)
(15)

$
$
$
$

12.71
9.18
13.14
11.98

Balance nonvested at March 31, 2016

630

$

11.20

$

5,368

Vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2016

468

$

11.27

$

3,990

Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Stock-based compensation expense related to all employee and non-employee stock-based awards for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and
2015 were as follow, (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016

Stock-based compensation expense:
Cost of services
Sales and marketing expenses
Product development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

2015

$

75
168
248
1,578

$

41
26
313
2,170

$

2,069

$

2,550

Warrants
The following is a summary of non-public warrants outstanding as of March 31, 2016 that the Company assumed in the Business Combination:
Weighted Average
Exercise Price per
Warrant

Common stock warrants
Series C Preferred stock warrants

$
$

27

8.79
8.74

Number of Warrants (as
converted) (in thousands)

690
477

Weighted Average
Remaining Life
(in years)

0.97
1.19
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The following is a summary of public warrants outstanding as of March 31, 2016. For the three months ended March 31, 2016 there was no activity.

Number of Warrants
(in thousands)

Public Warrants

6,173

Outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2016

Weighted Average
Exercise price

$

11.50

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Term (in
years)

1.84

The Company accounts for its 6.2 million public warrants as derivative liabilities at March 31, 2016. During the three months ended March 31, 2016
an d 2015, the Company recorded approximately $5.9 million and $1.0 million of income, respectively, in the condensed consolidated statements of
operations as a result of the remeasurement of these warrants. The fair value of warrants issued by the Company has been estimated using the warrants' quoted
public market price. In the event the closing price of the Company's common stock is at or above $17.50 for twenty of thirty consecutive trading days, the
Company can redeem the 6.2 million public warrants for $0.01 per warrant following a 30 day notice period, during which period holders may exercise their
warrants at $11.50 per share, with estimated proceeds of approximately $71.0 million, unless we decide, at our option, to make them exercisable on a cashless
basis.
Note 10. Income Taxes
The Company recorded an income tax provision of $3.2 million and an income tax benefit of $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively. The tax provision during the three months ended March 31, 2016 is primarily attributable to changes in state and foreign
income taxes resulting from fluctuations in the foreign subsidiaries’ contribution to pretax income and effects of permanent differences. The tax benefit for
the three months ended March 31, 2015 was driven primarily by benefits realized from internal restructuring during the period.
Due to uncertainty as to the realization of benefits from the Company's U.S. and certain international net deferred tax assets, including net operating
loss carryforwards, the Company has a full valuation allowance reserved against such net deferred tax assets. The Company intends to continue to maintain a
full valuation allowance on certain jurisdictions net deferred tax assets until there is sufficient evidence to support the reversal of all or some portion of these
allowances.
As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the liability for income taxes associated with uncertain tax positions was $5.7 million and $4.6
million, respectively. The net increase in the liability during 2016 was primarily attributable to reserves for tax positions taken by one of the Company’s
Canadian subsidiaries. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company had accrued $1.5 million and $1.4 million, respectively, of interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions. It is reasonably possible that the amount of the unrecognized benefit with respect to certain of the Company’s
unrecognized tax positions may significantly decrease within the next 12 months. This change may be the result of ongoing audits or the expiration of
federal and state statutes of limitations for the assessment of taxes.
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Note 11.

Notes Payable and Bank Debts
Convertible Senior Notes

In February 2015, the Company issued $82.5 million principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2035 (the “Convertible Notes”) in a
private placement. The Convertible Notes were issued at par, pay interest semi-annually in arrears at an annual rate of 2.75% and mature on February 15,
2035, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes are convertible in certain
circumstances and subject to certain conditions, based on an initial conversion rate of 53.9084 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes
(which represents an initial conversion price of approximately $18.55 per share), subject to adjustment. Holders of the Convertible Notes may convert their
Convertible Notes at their option at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding November 15, 2034, only if one or
more of the following conditions has been satisfied: 1) during any calendar quarter beginning after March 31, 2015 if the closing price of the Company's
common stock equals or exceeds 130% of the respective conversion price per share during a defined period at the end of the previous quarter, 2) during the
five consecutive business day period immediately following any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount
of Convertible Notes for each trading day was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion
rate on each such trading day; 3) if specified corporate transactions occur, or 4) if the Company calls any or all of the Convertible Notes for redemption, at
any time prior to the close of business on the second business day immediately preceding the redemption date. On or after November 15, 2034, until the close
of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, a holder may convert all or a portion of its Convertible Notes at
any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances.
On February 20, 2022, February 20, 2025 and February 20, 2030 and if the Company undergoes a “fundamental change” (as defined in the indenture
governing the Convertible Notes (the “Indenture”)), subject to certain conditions, a holder will have the option to require the Company to repurchase all or a
portion of its Convertible Notes for cash at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the relevant repurchase date. In addition, upon the occurrence of a “make-whole fundamental change”
(as defined in the Indenture) or if the Company delivers a redemption notice prior to February 20, 2022, the Company will, in certain circumstances, increase
the conversion rate for a holder that converts its Convertible Notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change or redemption notice, as the
case may be.
The Company may not redeem the Convertible Notes prior to February 20, 2019. The Company may, at its option, redeem all or part of the
Convertible Notes at any time (i) on or after February 20, 2019 if the last reported sale price per share of the Company’s common stock has been at least 130%
of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days during any thirty consecutive trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day
immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides written notice of redemption and (ii) on or after February 20, 2022 regardless of the sale
price condition described in clause (i), in each case, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be redeemed,
plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. Upon conversion of any Convertible Note, the Company shall pay or deliver to the
converting Holder, cash, shares of Common Stock or a combination of cash and shares of the Company's common stock, at the Company's election.
In accounting for the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company separated the notes into liability and equity components. The carrying
amount of the liability component of $69.5 million was calculated by measuring the fair value of similar liabilities that do not have an associated convertible
feature. The carrying amount of the equity component was calculated to be $13.0 million, and represents the conversion option which was determined by
deducting the fair value of the liability component from the principal amount of the notes. This difference represents a debt discount that is amortized to
interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity
classification.
In accounting for the direct transaction costs (the "issuance costs") related to the Convertible Notes, the Company allocated the total amount of
issuance costs incurred to the liability and equity components based on their relative values. The Company recorded issuance costs of $1.8 million and $0.3
million to the liability component and equity component, respectively. Issuance costs, including fees paid to the initial purchasers who acted as
intermediaries in the placement of the Convertible Notes, attributable to the liability component are presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from
the carrying amount of the debt liability and are amortized to interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes, and the
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issuance costs attributable to the equity component were netted with the equity component and included within "Additional paid-in capital" in the
condensed consolidated balance sheets. Interest expense related to the amortization expense of the issuance costs associated with the liability component
was not material during the three months ended March 31, 2016.
As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the outstanding Convertible Notes balance, net of debt issuance costs and discount associated with
the equity component, was $68.5 million and $68.3 million, respectively.
Bank Debt
With the acquisition of Travel Entertainment Group Equity Limited and subsidiaries ("IFES") on October 18, 2013, the Company assumed
approximately $1.3 million of debt in the form of two facility letters for a commercial mortgage loan with a bank for $0.2 million and $1.1 million. The
commercial mortgage loan for $0.2 million matured and the remaining outstanding balance and accrued interest was repaid in October 2014. The $1.1
million mortgage letter matures in October 2032 and bears interest at a rate equal to 1.75%. Interest is paid on a monthly basis. There was no accrued interest
on the mortgage letter as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were $0.8 million and $0.9 million
in borrowings outstanding under the remaining facility letter, respectively.
Citibank Loans
On December 22, 2014, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with Citibank, providing for $2.4 million of term loans (the "Citibank Term
Loans") and a revolving line of credit (the "Citibank Revolving Loans") in an amount not to exceed $20.0 million. The Citibank Term Loans bear interest at
a floating rate based on LIBOR plus an applicable interest margin per annum and mature on December 22, 2017. A total of $0.2 million of the principal
amount of the Citibank Term Loans plus any accrued and unpaid interest is to be repaid at the end of each quarter. The outstanding balance of the Citibank
Term Loans may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty.
Debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the Citibank Term Loans totaled $0.3 million and are being amortized to interest expense over the
respective term of the loans. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were $1.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively, outstanding under the
Citibank Term Loans and $20.0 million available for future borrowings under the Citibank Revolving Loans.
The following is a schedule, by year, of future minimum principal payments required under notes payable and bank debts as of March 31, 2016 (in
thousands):
Years Ending December 31,

Amount

2016 (remaining nine months)
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter
Total

$

639
816
53
55
46
83,140

$

84,749

Note 12. Concentrations
Concentrations of Credit and Business Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts
receivable.
A t March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company's cash and cash equivalents were maintained primarily with major U.S. financial
institutions and foreign banks. Deposits with these institutions at times exceed the federally insured
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limits, which potentially subjects the Company to concentration of credit risk. The Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances and
believes that there is minimal risk.
A substantial portion of the Company's revenue is generated through arrangements with one airline customer. The Company may not be successful
in renewing these agreements, or if they are renewed, they may not be on terms as favorable as current agreements. The percentage of revenue generated
through the customer representing more than 10% of consolidated revenue is as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016

Southwest Airlines as a percentage of total revenue
Southwest Airlines as a percentage of Connectivity revenue

2015

23%
85%

25%
89%

No other customer accounted for revenues greater than 10% for the two periods presented.
There were no accounts receivable balances from customers that represented more than 10% of total accounts receivable at March 31, 2016 and
December 31, 2015.
Note 13.

Restructuring

The Company records the cost reduction plan activities in accordance with the Accounting Standards Codification (ASC), including ASC 420 Exit
or Disposal Cost Obligations, ASC 712 Compensation-Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits and ASC 360 Property, Plant and Equipment (Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets).
During the third quarter ended September 30, 2014, the Company implemented a plan to improve operational efficiencies, which included the
closure of its German-based operations and facilities, centralization of its international financial operations, and realignment of its international and U.S. tax
structure (the “Restructuring Plan”). During 2014, in conjunction with the Restructuring Plan, the Company committed to a reduction in force. As of
September 23, 2014, the Company communicated the reduction to affected employees. The Company completed the implementation of its Restructuring
Plan before the end of 2015.
The Company incurred a total of $4.7 million of restructuring charges in connection with the Restructuring Plan, including:
(1) $2.7 million total expenses relating to employee termination benefits, which primarily included severance and transitional-related expenses.
(2) In connection with the closure of its German operations pursuant to the Restructuring Plan, the Company disposed of approximately 11,000 square
feet of leased facilities in Duisburg and Munich, Germany, representing approximately 6% of its global facilities square footage. The Company
incurred an aggregate of approximately $0.4 million of facilities disposal charges pursuant to the Restructuring Plan.
(3) $1.6 million of legal and professional fees associated with the execution of the Restructuring Plan.
The following table summarizes the charges recorded related to the Restructuring Plan by type of activity (in thousands):
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Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2016
Termination benefits
Leases and other contractual obligations
Other
Total Restructuring charges

2015

$

—
—
—

$

238
64
—

$

—

$

302

The following table summarizes the charges and spending relating to the restructuring plan for the year ended December 31, 2015 (in thousands):
Leases and other
contractual
obligations

Termination Costs
Restructuring reserves as of January 1, 2015

$

809

Expense
Payments
Restructuring reserves as of December 31, 2015

$

238
(1,047)
$

—

39

Other
$

107
(146)
$

—

Total

1,076

$

66
(1,142)
$

—

1,924
411
(2,335)

$

—

Note 14. Subsequent Events
EMC Acquisition Agreement
On May 9, 2016, the Company announced it entered into an agreement to purchase Emerging Markets Communications LLC (EMC), a land and
maritime satellite communications services company, in exchange for the payment by the Company of stock and cash and the assumption by the Company of
certain legacy EMC debt. The total aggregate transaction value is at $550.0 million, subject to customary working capital and other adjustments. The
agreement is subject to customary regulatory approvals. The transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2016.
Share Repurchase Program
For the period subsequent to March 31, 2016 through the date of this filing, the Company repurchased 614,087 shares for a weighted average price
of $8.48 for total proceeds of $5.2 million pursuant to its share repurchase program approved in March 2016.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
As used herein, "Global Eagle Entertainment," "GEE," the "Company," "our," "we," or "us" and similar terms include Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.
and it subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
We make forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents incorporated by reference herein within the meaning
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements relate to expectations or forecasts for future events, including
without limitation our earnings, revenues, expenses or other future financial or business performance or strategies, or the impact of legal or regulatory matters
on our business, results of operations or financial condition. These statements may be preceded by, followed by or include the words “may,” “might,” “will,”
“will likely result,” “should,” “estimate,” “plan,” “project,” “forecast,” “intend,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “seek,” “continue,” “target” or similar
expressions.
These forward-looking statements are based on information available to us as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and on our current
expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Actual results may vary materially from those expressed or implied
by the forward looking statements herein due to a variety of factors, including: our ability to integrate our acquired businesses, the ability of the combined
business to grow, including through acquisitions which we are able to successfully integrate, and the ability of our executive officers to manage growth
profitably; the ability of our customer Southwest Airlines to maintain a sponsor for its “TV Flies Free” offering and our ability to replicate this model through
other sponsorship alliances; the outcome of any legal proceedings pending or that may be instituted against us, our subsidiaries, or third parties to whom we
owe indemnification obligations; changes in laws or regulations that apply to us or our industry; our ability to recognize and timely implement future
technologies in the satellite connectivity space, including GSM and Ka-band system development and deployment; our ability to capitalize on investments
in developing our service offerings, including our long-term project with QEST to develop global antenna technologies; significant product development
expenses associated with our long-term line-fit initiatives; our ability to deliver end-to-end network performance sufficient to meet increasing airline
customer and passenger demand; our ability to obtain regulatory approval on a timely basis for the use of our equipment on aircraft; our ability to obtain and
maintain international authorizations to operate our service over the airspace of foreign jurisdictions our customers utilize; our ability to expand our service
offerings and deliver on our service roadmap; our ability to timely and cost-effectively identify and license television and media content that passengers will
purchase; a decrease in the media content onboard IFE systems and/or the discontinuance of the use of IFE systems indefinitely due to the emergence and
increase in the use of hand-held personal devices by airline passengers; general economic and technological circumstances in the satellite transponder
market, including access to transponder space in capacity limited regions and successful launch of replacement transponder capacity where applicable; our
ability to obtain and maintain licenses for content used on legacy installed IFE systems; the loss of, or failure to realize benefits from, agreements with our
airline partners; the loss of relationships with original equipment manufacturers or dealers; unfavorable economic conditions in the airline industry and
economy as a whole; our ability to expand our domestic or international operations, including our ability to grow our business with current and potential
future airline partners or successfully partner with satellite service providers, including Hughes Network Systems and SES; our reliance on third-party satellite
service providers and equipment and other suppliers, including single source providers and suppliers; the effects of service interruptions or delays,
technology failures, material defects or errors in our software, damage to our equipment or geopolitical restrictions; the result of ongoing tax audit that could
result in reduction of tax carryforwards; the limited operating history of our connectivity and in-flight television and media products; costs associated with
defending pending or future intellectual property infringement actions and other litigation or claims; increases in our projected capital expenditures due to,
among other things, unexpected costs incurred in connection with the roll out of our technology roadmap or our international plan of expansion; fluctuation
in our operating results; the demand for in-flight broadband Internet access services and market acceptance for our products and services; our ability to
generate sufficient cash flow to make payments on our indebtedness; our incurrence of additional indebtedness in the future; our ability to repay the
convertible notes at maturing or to repurchase the convertible nets upon a fundamental chance or at specific repurchase dates; the effect of the conditional
conversion feature of the convertible notes; our compliance with the covenants in our Credit Agreement; and other risks and uncertainties set forth in this
report and in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The following discussion and analysis of our business and results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2016, and our financial
condition at that date, should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q and our 2015 Form 10-K.
33

Table of Contents
Overview of the Company
We are a leading full service provider of connectivity and content to the worldwide travel industry, as well as the non-theatrical markets in Canada
and in the U.S. Our principal operations and decision-making functions are located in North America and Europe. We manage and report our businesses in
two operating segments: Connectivity and Content. Our chief operating decision maker regularly reviews our operating results by our Connectivity and
Content operating segments, principally to make decisions about how we allocate our resources and to measure our segment and consolidated operating
performance. We currently generate a majority of our revenue through the licensing of content and providing our Wi-Fi and Content services to the airline
industry, and to a lesser extent through the sale of network equipment to airlines. Our chief operating decision maker regularly reviews revenue and
contribution profit on a segment basis, and our results of operations and pre-tax income or loss on a consolidated basis in order to gain more depth and
understanding of the key business metrics driving our business. Accordingly, we report revenue and contribution profit for these segments separately.
For the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, we reported revenue of $113.8 million and $100.3 million, respectively. For the three months
ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, our Content operating segment accounted for 73% and 71% of our total revenue, respectively, and our Connectivity
operating segment accounted for 27% and 29%, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, one airline customer, Southwest
Airlines, accounted for 23% and 25% of our consolidated revenue, respectively.
Recent Developments
On May 9, 2016, the Company announced it entered into an agreement to purchase Emerging Markets Communications LLC (EMC), a land and
maritime satellite communications services company, in exchange for the payment by the Company of stock and cash and the assumption by the Company of
certain legacy EMC debt. The total aggregate transaction value is at $550.0 million, subject to customary working capital and other adjustments. The
agreement is subject to customary regulatory approvals. The transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2016. See Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Basis of Presentation
This analysis is presented on a consolidated basis. In addition, a brief description is provided of significant transactions and events that have an
impact on the comparability of the results being analyzed.
Opportunities, Challenges and Risks
For the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, we derived the majority of our revenue through the licensing and related services from our
Content operating segment, and secondarily from Wi-Fi Internet service and the sale of equipment to airlines from our Connectivity operating segment. For
the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, the vast majority of our equipment and Wi-Fi Internet service revenue were generated by two airlines,
Southwest Airlines and Norwegian Air Shuttle.
We believe our operating results and performance are driven by various factors that affect the commercial airline industry, including general
macroeconomic trends affecting the travel industry, trends affecting our target user base, regulatory changes, competition and the rate of passenger adoption
of our services, as well as factors that affect Wi-Fi Internet service providers in general. Growth in our Content and Connectivity operating segments is
principally dependent upon the number of airlines that implement our services, our ability to negotiate favorable economic terms with our customers and
partners, and the number of passengers who use our services. Growth in our margins is dependent on our ability to manage the costs associated with
implementing and operating our services, including the costs of licensing and distributing content, equipment and satellite service. Our ability to attract and
retain new and existing customers will be highly dependent on our abilities to implement our services on a timely basis and continually improve our network
and operations as technology changes and as we experience increased network capacity constraints as we continue to grow.
As technology continues to evolve, we believe that there are opportunities to expand our services by adding more content in a greater variety of
formats. Currently, our Content and Connectivity operating segments are separate platforms; however, we believe there is an opportunity to diversify our
revenue long term by cross leveraging these services, including offering a greater variety of premium paid content across our Connectivity platform. For
example, we acquired Advanced Inflight Alliance AG ("AIA"), Post Modern Edit, LLC and related entities ("PMG") and Travel Entertainment Group Equity
Limited and subsidiaries ("IFES") in 2013 to accelerate our paid premium content opportunity. During 2014, we developed a system, WISETM that enables
airlines to provide in-cabin Wi-Fi delivery of content to airline passengers' hand-held personal devices. Our first implementation of WISETM launched on a
commercial airline during the second quarter of 2014. Conversely, the
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evolution of technology presents an inherent risk to our Content and Connectivity operating segments. Today, we see large opportunities to expand our
connectivity services in parts of the world where we will need to make substantial investments to improve our current service offerings. As a result, during
2015, we entered into a long-term development project with QEST to develop new global antenna technologies, and more recently expanding this effort to
include Ka-band antenna development. Over the next twelve months, we expect to continue making significant product development investments to our
existing connectivity technology solutions to address these opportunities. Our Connectivity platform utilizes leading satellite Ku-band systems and
equipment today; however, with the introduction and evolution of more competitive technologies such as GSM solutions, our current technology may
change, become obsolete, too expensive and/or outdated. On October 24, 2014, we entered into an agreement with New Skies Satellites B.V. ("SES") for
satellite capacity for the period that began in the first half of 2015 and continuing for ten years after the launch of a Ku-HTS satellite. The agreement with
SES provides us with global satellite coverage and the ability to participate in future technology improvements in Ku-band satellite solutions. In February
2015, we modified the terms of our current agreements with SES and Hughes Network Systems, LLC ("Hughes") to formalize a satellite capacity ordering
structure whereby the Company will order SES-sourced satellite capacity through Hughes and Hughes will provide satellite performance and satellite
coverage evaluation services to the Company. However, there is no guarantee that our existing or future satellite providers or solutions will be adequate to
enable us to compete effectively with our competitors, and as a result we may lose customers to our competitors who offer more technologically evolved
and/or less costly connectivity systems in the future. Lastly, the future growth in our Content operating segment relies heavily on our airline customers
continuing to utilize onboard in-flight entertainment ("IFE") systems for their passengers to watch media content. With the emergence and increased use of
hand-held personal devices by airline passengers, our airline customers may decide to decrease the media content onboard IFE systems, and/or discontinue
the use of IFE systems indefinitely. This would adversely impact the future growth of our Content operating segment.
The use of our connectivity equipment on our customer’s airplanes is subject to regulatory approvals, such as a Supplemental Type Certificate (“STC”)
that are imposed by agencies such as the Federal Aviation Agency (“FAA”) and the European Aviation Safety Agency (“EASA”). The costs to obtain an STC
can be significant and vary by plane type and customer location. We have STCs to operate our equipment on several plane types, including Boeing’s 737,
757, 767 and 777 families, and for the Airbus A320 family. While we believe we will be successful in obtaining STC approvals in the future as needed, there
is a risk that neither the FAA nor EASA will approve an STC on a timely basis, if at all, and as a result, it could negatively impact our growth, relationships,
and ability to deploy our future connectivity services with our customers. To partially address the risk and costs of obtaining STCs in the future, we recently
signed an agreement with Boeing to commence the process for offering our connectivity equipment on a line-fit basis for Boeing’s 737 MAX and 787
models, and our Connectivity equipment is available as an option on new Boeing 737 airplanes. We also expect to undertake similar line-fit initiatives with
other plane manufacturers such as Airbus in the near term. As a result, we expect to continue incurring significant product development expenses in the
foreseeable future as we invest in these long-term line-fit opportunities, which we believe will improve our long-term ability to onboard our connectivity
equipment on new plane types in a more scalable and cost-effective manner.
We are significantly dependent on certain key suppliers. Through December 31, 2015, our Connectivity operating segment purchased its satellite
bandwidth from a single supplier, Hughes, which also provides us with certain equipment and servers required to deliver the satellite stream, rack space at the
supplier's data centers to house the equipment and servers and network operations service support. We also purchase radomes, satellite antenna systems and
rings from single suppliers. Any interruption in supply from these significant vendors could have a material impact on our ability to provide connectivity
services to airline customers.
The growth of our Content segment is based upon a number of factors, including the growth of IFE systems, our customers' demand for content and
games, the general availability of content to license from our studio partners, pricing from our competitors and our ability to manage the underlying
economics of content licensing by studio. Due to the acquisitions of AIA, PMG and IFES during 2013, our Content segment revenue growth in 2014 as
compared to 2013 was significant and not necessarily comparable between the two periods. As a result, we do not expect our Content segment to grow at the
same historical levels in 2016 and 2015 as compared to 2014. While we believe that the amount of IFE systems and customer demand for content and games
will continue to grow in the foreseeable future, we expect the overall growth in our Content segment to be more consistent with the overall IFE market growth
in the near term.
The growth of our Connectivity segment is based upon a number of factors, including the rates at which we grow the number of installed base of
connectivity systems from new and existing customers, customer demand for connectivity services, government regulations and approvals, passenger
adoption, growth, take rates, and overall usage of our connectivity services, the general availability and pricing of satellite bandwidth globally, pricing
pressures from our competitors, general travel industry trends, new and competing connectivity technologies, and our ability to manage the underlying
economics of connectivity services on a global basis. In February 2015, we raised capital through a private placement of convertible senior
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notes, a portion of which proceeds we plan to use in for equipment financing arrangements. The long-term economics of any future agreement involving
equipment financing could positively or negatively impact our liquidity, growth, Connectivity margins, relationships, and ability to deploy our future
connectivity services with current or future customers.
Our consolidated cost of sales, the largest component of our operating expenses, can vary from period to period, particularly as a percentage of revenue,
based upon the mix of the underlying equipment and service revenues we generate. In addition, our consolidated cost of sales will vary period to period as we
acquire new customers and to accommodate the growth of our connectivity segment. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the growth from our
Connectivity segment improved our overall operating margins. As a result, our cost of sales as a percentage of our revenue improved throughout 2015 as
compared to 2014. Beginning in the second half of 2015, we increased our investment in satellite capacity over North America and the Middle East to
facilitate the growth of our existing and new connectivity customer base, which included a $6.7 million and $4.9 million capital purchase of satellite
transponders during the three months ended September 30, 2015 and March 31, 2016, respectively. Depending on the timing of our satellite expenditures,
our consolidated cost of sales as a percentage of our revenue may fluctuate from period to period.
In July 2013, our customer Southwest Airlines announced “TV Flies Free” under which Southwest Airlines passengers using Internet-ready personal
devices have free access to live television and up to 75 on-demand shows on the airline's more than 400 Wi-Fi-enabled aircraft powered by us. TV Flies Free
initially was exclusively sponsored by DISH Network Corporation through December 31, 2014. In 2015, new sponsors including JPMorgan Chase & Co.
were obtained for TV Flies Free. A significant amount of the revenue we generate from the TV Flies Free program is indirectly provided by the program’s
sponsors. Should sponsorship revenue not be available to Southwest Airlines from third parties, Southwest Airlines is under no contractual obligation to offer
free access to live television and on-demand shows to its passengers. As a result, there can be no assurance that we will continue to receive the same level of
revenue from Southwest Airlines and Connectivity service revenue in future periods may fluctuate accordingly.
During the third quarter of 2015, we completed acquisitions of Western Outdoor Interactive ("WOI"), certain assets from RMG Networks Holding
Corporation (the "RMG Assets"), masFlight, Inc. and navAero, Inc. for an aggregate cash purchase price of $60.2 million, including $5.0 million of cash paid
as contingent consideration. WOI and the RMS Assets were acquired to strengthen and increase the scope of our service offerings, including expanding our
digital media and content services, and providing us with increased integrated solutions to meet the digital media and content service demands of the airline
and maritime markets. masFlight, the industry's leading operational data analytics platform, and navAero, the industry's leading developer of cutting-edge
EFB (Electronic Flight Bag) and cockpit data solutions together form the foundation of our operations solutions services business, leveraging nextgeneration aircraft connectivity to create a revolutionary new platform that helps airlines improve operations, realize cost efficiencies, and enhance the
overall passenger experience. During the second half of 2015, the aggregate financial results from these acquisitions were not significant in comparison to
our existing operations. However, we believe the long-term growth opportunities are significant for our digital media and operations solutions services, and
as a result we expect to make significant operating investments throughout 2016 to facilitate these long-term growth opportunities.
In 2014, we commenced integration and formal restructuring activities of our 2013 acquisitions of AIA, PMG and IFES to support future growth. In
September 2014, we announced and commenced our formal restructuring plan (the “Restructuring Plan”), and we began realizing significant cost savings
from the Restructuring Plan during 2015. We completed the implementation of the Restructuring Plan before the end of 2015. In addition, in the first half of
2015 and 2016, we initiated further integration activities that we believe will help us to further accelerate our operating margin in 2016 and beyond.
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, a substantial amount of our Connectivity revenue was derived from a single airline (Southwest
Airlines) based in the United States. While our Connectivity revenue is currently primarily generated through an airline based in the United States, we
believe that there is a substantial opportunity in the long-term for us to significantly expand our Connectivity operating segment's service offerings to
airlines based in countries outside of the United States. In 2014, we announced partnerships in Europe with Orange and in Asia with China Telecom
Communications Co., LTD and IP Star International PTE Limited, an affiliate of Thaicom, to jointly work to expand our Connectivity services within the
broader European and Asia markets. In June 2015, we announced a new Connectivity agreement with Dubai Aviation Corporation ("flydubai"), an airline
based in the Middle East. In December 2015, we announced a new Connectivity agreement with Shareco, a joint venture between China’s Hainan Airlines
and Beijing Capital Airlines. In February 2016, we announced a partnership with India's Jet Airways to provide IFE streaming services and connectivity
services.
We plan to further expand our Connectivity operations internationally to address these opportunities. As we expand our business further
internationally in places such as the Middle East, Asia Pacific and Latin America, we will continue to incur significant incremental upfront expenses
associated with these growth opportunities.
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Key Components of Consolidated Statements of Operations
The following briefly describes certain key components of revenue and expenses as presented in our consolidated statements of operations.
Revenue
Our revenue is derived from our Connectivity and Content operating segments.
Connectivity Segment
We currently generate our Connectivity revenue through the sale of equipment and through our Wi-Fi Internet and related service offerings. Our
equipment revenue is based on the sale and corresponding support of our connectivity equipment to our commercial airline customers. Our service revenue is
based on the fees paid by airlines and/or airline passengers for the delivery of in-flight services, such as Internet access and live television, and to a lesser
extent from revenue sharing arrangements with commercial airlines for Internet based services used by their passengers, such as shopping.
Where we enter into revenue sharing arrangements with our customers, and we act as the primary obligor, we report the underlying revenue on a gross
basis in our consolidated statements of operations, and record the revenue-sharing payments to our customers in costs of sales. In determining whether to
report revenue gross for the amount of fees received from our customers, we assess whether we maintain the principal relationship, bear credit risk and have
latitude in establishing prices with the airlines.
Included in our Connectivity service revenue are periodic service level credits, which vary from airline to airline and are based on the contracted service
levels we provide over any given period.
Content Segment
A significant amount of our Content revenue is generated from licensing of acquired and third party media content, video and music programming,
applications, and video games to the airline industry, and to a lesser extent from services ranging from selection, purchase, production, customer support and
technical adjustment of content in connection with the integration and servicing of IFE programs. Our Content licensing revenue is based upon individual
licensing agreements with the airlines to deliver and air content over specified terms. Content services revenue, such as technical services, the encoding of
video products, development of graphical interfaces or the provision of materials, is priced on specific services contracted for and recognized as services are
performed.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses consist of cost of sales, sales and marketing, product development, general and administrative, and amortization of intangible
assets. Included in our operating expenses are stock based compensation and depreciation expenses associated with our capital expenditures.
Cost of Sales
Connectivity Segment Cost of Sales
Connectivity segment cost of sales consists of the costs of our equipment and services.
Equipment. Equipment costs of sales are substantially comprised of the costs paid to procure our equipment for services. Equipment costs are
principally comprised of the costs we pay to third parties to facilitate our equipment orders, and are originally classified as inventory on our balance sheet
upon receipt of goods. Upon sale, equipment costs of sales are recorded when title and risk of loss pass to the customer, which is aligned with our equipment
revenue recognition. As we continue to grow our installed base of Connectivity customers throughout 2016 and beyond, coupled with our recent decision to
provide a new customer with upfront financial incentives on our equipment, we expect our equipment sales and the corresponding equipment costs of sales
not to be comparable to historical results.
Services. Service costs of sales principally consist of the costs of satellite service and support, revenue recognized by us and shared with others as a
result of our revenue-sharing arrangements, Internet connection and co-location charges and other
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platform operating expenses including depreciation of the systems and hardware used to build and operate our platform; and personnel costs related to our
network operations, customer service and information technology. As we continue to build out our Connectivity services platform and expand our satellite
coverage globally, we anticipate that our service costs will increase when compared to historical periods. Our services cost of sales are dependent on a
number of factors, including the amount of satellite coverage and bandwidth required to operate our services and the number of partners we share our
corresponding revenue with.
Content Segment Cost of Sales
Content segment cost of sales principally consists of licensing fees paid to acquire content rights for the airline industry, and to a lesser extent service
and personnel costs to support our Content business.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of sales and marketing personnel costs, sales support, public relations, advertising, marketing and
general promotional expenditures. Fluctuations in our sales and marketing expenses are generally the result of our efforts to support the growth in our
businesses, including expenses required to support the expansion of our direct sales force. We currently anticipate that our sales and marketing expenses will
continue to increase throughout 2016, but remain consistent as a percent of revenue when compared to 2015, as we continue to grow our sales and marketing
organizations and invest in marketing activities to support the growth of our businesses.
Product Development
Product development expenses consist primarily of expenses incurred in our software engineering, product development and web portal design
activities and related personnel costs. Fluctuations in our product development expenses are generally the result of hiring personnel to support and develop
our platform, including the costs to further develop our Connectivity segment platform, timing and scope of our STC efforts, new connectivity product
offerings, expenses associated with line-fit offerability and network operations. We currently anticipate that our product development expenses will increase
in 2016 as we continue to hire more product development personnel and further develop our products and offerings to support the growth of our business.
However, in 2016, we expect our product development expense as a percentage of revenue to be comparable to 2015.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs from our executive, legal, finance, human resources and information
technology organizations and facilities related expenditures, as well as third party professional fees, insurance and bad debt expenses. Professional fees are
largely comprised of outside legal, accounting audit, information technology consulting and legal settlements. We anticipate general and administrative
expenses in 2016 to remain consistent with 2015.
Restructuring
During the third quarter ended September 30, 2014, the Company implemented a plan to improve operational efficiencies, which included the closure of
its German-based operations and facilities, centralization of its international financial operations, and realignment of its international and U.S. tax structure.
During 2014, in conjunction with the Restructuring Plan, the Company committed to a reduction in force. As of September 23, 2014, the Company
communicated the reduction to affected employees. The Company completed the implementation of its Restructuring Plan before the end of 2015.
The Company incurred a total of $4.7 million of restructuring charges in connection with the Restructuring Plan, including:
(1) $2.7 million total expenses relating to employee termination benefits, which primarily included severance and transitional-related expenses.
(2) In connection with the closure of its German operations pursuant to the Restructuring Plan, the Company disposed of approximately 11,000 square
feet of leased facilities in Duisburg and Munich, Germany, representing approximately 6% of its global facilities square footage. The Company
incurred an aggregate of approximately $0.4 million of facilities disposal charges pursuant to the Restructuring Plan.
(3) $1.6 million of legal and professional fees associated with the execution of the Restructuring Plan.
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Amortization of Intangibles
The Company determines the appropriate useful life of intangible assets by performing an analysis of expected cash flows based on its historical
experience of intangible assets of similar quality and value. We expect amortization expense to fluctuate in the near term as we increase identifiable
intangible assets acquired in the acquisitions made in the second half of 2015. Amortization as a percentage of revenue will depend upon a variety of factors,
such as the amounts and mix of our identifiable intangible assets acquired in business combinations.
Stock-Based Compensation
Included in our operating expenses are expenses associated with stock-based compensation, which are allocated and included in cost of sales, sales and
marketing, product development and general and administrative expenses as necessary. Stock-based compensation expense is largely comprised of costs
associated with stock options and restricted stock units granted to our directors, employees and non-employees. We record the fair value of these equitybased awards and expense at their cost ratably over related vesting periods. In addition, stock-based compensation expense includes the cost of options to
purchase common stock issued to certain non-employees.
Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) principally consists of changes in the fair value of our derivative financial instruments, interest on outstanding debt associated
with our convertible senior notes issued in February 2015 and our foreign notes payable, interest earned on cash balances and short-term investments, income
or loss from our equity-method investments and certain unrealized transaction gains and losses on foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. We
typically invest our available cash balances in money market funds and short-term United States Treasury obligations. We expect that our transaction gains
and losses will vary depending upon movements in underlying currency exchange rates, and could become significant in 2016 with the expected
improvement in the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies such as the Euro and Canadian dollar.
Provision for Income Taxes
Since our inception, we have been subject to income taxes principally in the United States, and more recently with the acquisition of AIA in January
2013, PMG in July 2013, IFES in October 2013, WOI in 2015 and NavAero in 2015, in other countries where we have a legal presence, including Germany,
the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Canada, China, India, Hong Kong, Sweden and the United Arab Emirates. We anticipate that as we continue to expand
our operations outside the United States, we will become subject to taxation based on the foreign statutory rates and our effective tax rate could fluctuate
accordingly.
Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to
affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the notes to the financial statements. Some of those judgments can be subjective
and complex, and therefore, actual results could differ materially from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions. A summary of our critical
accounting policies is presented in Part II, Item 7, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. There have been no material
changes to our critical accounting policies during the three months ended March 31, 2016.
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Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not
necessarily indicative of future results (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016
Revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales
Sales and marketing expenses
Product development
General and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Restructuring charges

$

Total operating expenses

2015

113,817

$

100,305

76,768
4,672
8,746
21,221
7,403
—

69,426
3,275
7,230
18,119
5,983
302

118,810

104,335

Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net
Change in fair value of derivatives
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

(4,993)

(4,030)

(804)
5,865
680

(245)
954
(796)

748
3,160

Net loss

Net loss per common share - basic
Net loss per common share - diluted

(4,117)
(686)

$

(2,412)

$

(3,431)

$
$

(0.03)
(0.03)

$
$

(0.04)
(0.06)

Weighted average common shares - basic
Weighted average common shares - diluted

78,643
78,643

76,874
78,725

The following table provides the depreciation expense included in the above line items (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2016

Cost of sales
Sales and marketing
Product development
General and administrative
Total depreciation expense
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2015

$

1,183
265
495
1,202

$

667
155
341
869

$

3,145

$

2,032
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The following table provides the stock-based compensation expense included in the above line items (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,

Stock-based compensation expense:

2016

Cost of sales
Sales and marketing expenses
Product development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

2015

$

75
168
248
1,578

$

41
26
313
2,170

$

2,069

$

2,550

The following table provides our results of operations, as a percentage of revenue, for the periods presented:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2016

2015

Revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales
Sales and marketing expenses
Product development
General and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Restructuring charges

100 %

100 %

67 %
4%
8%
19 %
7%
—%

69 %
3%
7%
18 %
6%
—%

Total operating expenses

104 %

104 %

(4)%
5%

(4)%
—%

1%
3%

(4)%
(1)%

(2)%

(3)%

Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 Compared To Three Months Ended March 31, 2015
Operating Segments
Segment revenue, expenses and contribution profit for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 derived from the Company's Content and
Connectivity segments were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016
Content

Revenue:
Licensing and services
Equipment

$

83,606
—

2015

Connectivity

$

24,225
5,986

Consolidated

$

Content

107,831
5,986

$

71,650
—

Connectivity

$

22,200
6,455

Consolidated

$

93,850
6,455

Total revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales

83,606

30,211

113,817

71,650

28,655

100,305

55,637

21,131

76,768

50,002

19,424

69,426

Contribution profit
Other operating expenses

27,969

9,080

37,049
42,042

21,648

9,231

30,879
34,909

Loss from operations

$

(4,993)

$

(4,030)

Revenue
Connectivity operating segment revenue was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2015

2016

% Change
2016 to 2015

Services
Equipment revenue

$

24,225
5,986

$

22,200
6,455

9%
(7)%

Total revenue Connectivity segment

$

30,211

$

28,655

5%

Connectivity Service Revenue
Connectivity service revenue increased $2.0 million, or 9%, to $24.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, as compared to $22.2
million for the three months ended March 31, 2015, driven by the growth in users of our Wi-Fi Internet services on Southwest Airlines.
Connectivity Equipment Revenue
Connectivity equipment revenue decreased by $0.5 million, or 7%, to $6.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, as compared to $6.5
million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The $0.5 million decrease was primarily due to the timing of equipment shipments on newly
commissioned airplanes, offset by EFB equipment sales from our third quarter 2015 acquisition, navAero.
Content operating segment revenue was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2015

2016

Licensing revenue

$

Content Licensing Revenue
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83,606

$

71,650

% Change
2016 to 2015

17%
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Content licensing revenue increased $12.0 million, or 17%, to $83.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 as compared to $71.7
million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The $12.0 million increase was driven by $7.7 million of content licensing revenue from new and
existing airline customers and $4.3 million from new advertising campaigns and recently acquired WOI, which was completed in the third quarter of 2015.
Cost of Sales
Connectivity operating segment cost of sales was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2015

2016

% Change
2016 to 2015

Service cost of sales

$

15,757
5,374

$

Equipment cost of sales
Total Connectivity cost of sales

13,698
5,726

15 %
(6)%

$

21,131

$

19,424

9%

Connectivity cost of sales increased $1.7 million, or 9%, to $21.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 compared to $19.4 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2015 primarily due to a $2.1 million increase in Connectivity service cost of sales due to higher satellite bandwidth
expenses, partially offset by a $0.4 million decrease in equipment cost of sales as a result of lower equipment shipments on newly commissioned airplanes.
As a percentage of Connectivity equipment revenue, Connectivity equipment cost of sales remained relatively consistent at 90% and 89% during
the three months ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015, respectively.
As a percentage of Connectivity service revenue, Connectivity service cost of sales increased to 65% during the three months ended March 31,
2016, as compared to 62% for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The period to period decrease in contribution margin was mainly the result of the
timing of adding fixed satellite bandwidth coverage ahead of corresponding connectivity service revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Content operating segment cost of sales was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2015

2016

Content cost of sales

$

55,637

$

50,002

% Change
2016 to 2015

11%

Content cost of sales increased $5.6 million, or 11%, to $55.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, as compared to $50.0 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase was due largely to $3.1 million higher cost of sales as a result of the increased licensing and services
revenue from new and existing Content customers, coupled with a $2.5 million increase from advertising and WOI, which was completed in the third quarter
of 2015.
As a percentage of Content revenue, Content cost of sales was 67% during the three months ended March 31, 2016 as compared to 70% in the three
months ended March 31, 2015. The improvement was principally due to a higher mix of content licensed under fixed studio costs arrangements, improved
content margins as a result of recent integration efforts and acquisitions, and the elimination of amortization expense from acquired content rights from the
AIA acquisition that still existed during the three months ended March 31, 2015.
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Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2015

2016

Sales and marketing expenses
Product development
General and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Restructuring charges

$

4,672
8,746
21,221
7,403
—

$

3,275
7,230
18,119
5,983
302

% Change
2016 to 2015

43%
21%
17%
24%
—%

Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses increased $1.4 million, or 43%, to $4.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 as compared to $3.3
million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase was driven by a $0.9 million increase in sales personnel costs driven by acquisitions in the
second half of 2015, a $0.3 million increase in various marketing initiatives and $0.1 million increases in both stock-based compensation and depreciation
expense.
Product Development
Product development expense increased $1.5 million, or 21%, to $8.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 compared to $7.2 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The year-over-year increase was due to increases of $0.9 million in product development initiatives such as our
global antenna, Boeing line-fit and STC deployments, $0.3 million in travel, and a $0.2 million increase in depreciation expense.
General and Administrative
General and administrative costs increased $3.1 million, or 17%, to $21.2 million during the three months ended March 31, 2016 compared to $18.1
million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase was mainly due to a $2.0 million increase in professional fees driven by higher legal
expenses, a $1.0 million increase in travel and facilities costs from recent acquisitions and to support our growth over the period, and a $0.4 million increase
in bad debt expense. Offsetting these increases was a net $0.3 million decrease in non-cash stock compensation and depreciation expense.
Amortization of Intangible Assets
Amortization expense increased $1.4 million, or 24%, to $7.4 million during the three months ended March 31, 2016 as compared to $6.0 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase was due to the additional intangible assets acquired during the third quarter of 2015.
Restructuring Charges
There were no restructuring charges during the three months ended March 31, 2016 as compared to $0.3 million during the three months ended
March 31, 2015, as the restructuring plan was completed in 2015.
Other Income (Expense), net
Other income (expense), net was income of $5.7 million during the three months ended March 31, 2016 compared to expense of $0.1 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2015. The change is principally due to a $5.9 million decline in fair value of the Company's public warrants during the three
months ended March 31, 2016 compared to only a $1.0 million decline in the three months ended March 31, 2015, coupled with a $0.7 million gain on
foreign currency transactions during the three months ended March 31, 2016 compared to a $0.7 million loss on foreign currency transactions for the three
months ended March 31, 2015. This was partially offset by an increase of $0.6 million of interest expense associated with our convertible senior notes and
the amortization of the related discount and issuance costs during the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
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Income tax expense was $3.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 compared to a benefit of $0.7 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2015. The tax provision during the three months ended March 31, 2016 is primarily attributable to changes in state and foreign income taxes
resulting from fluctuations in our foreign subsidiaries’ contribution to pretax income and effects of permanent differences. The tax benefit for the three
months ended March 31, 2015 was driven primarily by benefits realized resulting from internal restructuring during the period.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Current Financial Condition
As of March 31, 2016, our principal sources of liquidity were our cash and cash equivalents in the amount of $219.2 million, which primarily are
invested in cash and money market funds in banking institutions in the U.S., Europe and to a lesser extent in Asia Pacific. Excluded from our cash balance at
March 31, 2016 is approximately $3.0 million of restricted cash that is attached to letters of credit agreements between our subsidiaries and certain airlines.
The vast majority of our cash was from the business combination in which the Company acquired Row 44, Inc. ("Row 44") and 86% of the shares of
Advanced Inflight Alliance AG ("AIA") (the "Business Combination") in January 2013, our follow-on offering in December 2013 and our convertible senior
note offering in February 2015. As of March 31, 2016, we had a notes payable balance of $2.0 million and outstanding convertible senior notes balance of
$68.5 million, net of the discount associated with the equity component.
Our cash flows from operating activities are significantly affected by our cash-based investments in operations, including working capital, and
corporate infrastructure to support our ability to generate revenue and conduct operations through cost of services, product development, sales and marketing
and general and administrative activities. Cash used in investing activities has historically been, and is expected to be, impacted significantly by our
investments in business combinations, our platform, Company infrastructure and equipment for our business offerings, the net sales and purchases of our
marketable securities and changes in our derivative financial instruments. In the third quarter of 2015 we invested significant cash to make additional
strategic acquisitions across our content and connectivity platforms to further grow our business. We expect to make additional strategic acquisitions to
further grow our business, which may require significant investments in the near and long term. See Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Recent Developments. Moreover, during the three months ended March 31, 2016, we acquired additional
satellite transponders over North America for an aggregate cost of $4.9 million, which were paid in full in April 2016. Over the next twelve months, our net
use of our working capital could be substantially higher or lower depending on the number and timing of new customers that we add to our Connectivity and
Content businesses. As discussed in our accompanying Financial Statements under “Note 14 Subsequent Events,” we entered into an agreement to purchase
Emerging Markets Communications on May 9, 2016 for total consideration of $550.0 million (subject to customary working capital and other adjustments),
of which approximately $83.0 million is estimated to be cash consideration upon closing.
Loan Agreement
On February 24, 2016, the Company entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with a third party that provides in-flight entertainment
systems to airlines (the "Loan Party"). The Loan Agreement provides for the loan by the Company to the Loan Party of up to $5 million, bears annual interest
at a rate of 15% and is payable in full December 31, 2016. As of March 31, 2016, the outstanding principle balance of the loan was $2.6 million, inclusive of
a $0.1 million origination fee. Accrued interest receivable on the Senior Secured Promissory Note as of March 31, 2016 was less than $0.1 million.
Subsequent to March 31, 2016, the Company funded an additional $1.0 million under the Loan Agreement, bringing cumulative funding to $3.5 million as
of May 9, 2016.
Stock Repurchase Program
In March 2016, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program under which the Company may repurchase up to $50.0
million of its common stock. Under the stock repurchase program, the Company may repurchase shares from time to time using a variety of methods, which
may include open-market purchases and privately negotiated transactions. The extent to which the Company repurchases its shares, and the timing and
manner of such repurchases, will depend upon a variety of factors, including market conditions, regulatory requirements and other corporate considerations,
as determined by management. The Company regularly reviews potential growth opportunities both within its existing business and through acquisitions
and all potential buybacks will be measured against other potential uses of capital that meet our investment criteria and which may arise from time to time.
The repurchase program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any specific number of shares, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The
Company expects to finance any purchases with existing cash on hand, cash from operations and potential additional borrowings. During the three months
ended March 31, 2016, there were no share repurchases.
Warrants
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company's Board of Directors (the “Board”) authorized the Company to repurchase GEE's public
warrants for an aggregate purchase price, payable in cash and/or shares of common stock, of up to $25.0
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million (inclusive of certain prior warrant purchases). In August 2015, the Board increased this amount by an additional $20.0 million. As of March 31, 2016,
$16.5 million was available for warrant repurchases under this authorization. The amount the Company spends and the number of warrants repurchased varies
based on a variety of factors including the warrant price.
Debt Instruments
On December 22, 2014, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with Citibank, providing for $2.4 million of term loans (the "Citibank Term
Loans") and a revolving line of credit (the "Citibank Revolving Loans") in an amount not to exceed $20.0 million. The Citibank Term Loans bear interest at
a floating rate based on LIBOR plus an applicable interest margin per annum and mature on December 22, 2017. A total of $0.2 million of the principal
amount of the Citibank Term Loans plus any accrued and unpaid interest is to be repaid at the end of each quarter. The outstanding balance of the Citibank
Term Loans may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty.
Debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the Citibank Term Loans totaled $0.3 million and are being amortized to interest expense over the
respective term of the loans. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were $1.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively, outstanding under the
Citibank Term Loans and $20.0 million available for future borrowings under the Citibank Revolving Loans.
As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there was $0.8 million and $0.9 million in borrowings under a facility letter for a commercial
mortgage loan with a bank which we assumed in connection with the IFES acquisition on October 18, 2013. See “Bank Debt” in Note 11 to our condensed
consolidated financial statements contained herein.
In February 2015, the Company issued $82.5 million principal amount of 2.75% convertible senior notes due in 2035 (the “Convertible Notes”) in a
private placement for net proceeds of $80.7 million. The Convertible Notes were issued at par, pay interest semi-annually in arrears at an annual rate of 2.75%
and mature on February 15, 2035, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted. The Convertible Notes are convertible in certain circumstances and
subject to certain conditions, based on an initial conversion rate of 53.9084 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes (which represents
an initial conversion price of approximately $18.55 per share), subject to adjustment. Holders of the Convertible Notes may convert their Convertible Notes
at their option at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding November 15, 2034, only if one or more of the following
conditions has been satisfied: 1) during any calendar quarter beginning after March 31, 2015 if the closing price of the Company's common stock equals or
exceeds 130% of the respective conversion price per share during a defined period at the end of the previous quarter, 2) during the five consecutive business
day period immediately following any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes for
each trading day was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion rate on each such
trading day; 3) if specified corporate transactions occur, or 4) if the Company calls any or all of the Convertible Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the
close of business on the second business day immediately preceding the redemption date. On or after November 15, 2034, until the close of business on the
second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, a holder may convert all or a portion of its Convertible Notes at any time, regardless
of the foregoing circumstances.
On February 20, 2022, February 20, 2025 and February 20, 2030 and if the Company undergoes a “fundamental change” (as defined in the indenture
governing the Convertible Notes (the “Indenture”)), subject to certain conditions, a holder will have the option to require the Company to repurchase all or a
portion of its Convertible Notes for cash at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the relevant repurchase date. In addition, upon the occurrence of a “make-whole fundamental change”
(as defined in the Indenture) or if the Company delivers a redemption notice prior to February 20, 2022, the Company will, in certain circumstances, increase
the conversion rate for a holder that converts its Convertible Notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change or redemption notice, as the
case may be.
The Company may not redeem the Convertible Notes prior to February 20, 2019. The Company may, at its option, redeem all or part of the
Convertible Notes at any time (i) on or after February 20, 2019 if the last reported sale price per share of the Company’s common stock has been at least 130%
of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days during any thirty consecutive trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day
immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides written notice of redemption and (ii) on or after February 20, 2022 regardless of the sale
price condition described in clause (i), in each case, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be redeemed,
plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. Upon conversion of any Convertible Note,
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the Company shall pay or deliver to the converting Holder, cash, shares of Common Stock or a combination of cash and shares of the Company's common
stock, at the Company's election.
In accounting for the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company separated the notes into liability and equity components. The carrying
amount of the liability component of $69.5 million was calculated by measuring the fair value of similar liabilities that do not have an associated convertible
feature. The carrying amount of the equity component was calculated to be $13.0 million, and represents the conversion option which was determined by
deducting the fair value of the liability component from the principal amount of the notes. This difference represents a debt discount that is amortized to
interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity
classification.
In accounting for the direct transaction costs (the "issuance costs") related to the Convertible Notes, the Company allocated the total amount of
issuance costs incurred to the liability and equity components based on their relative values. The Company recorded issuance costs of $1.8 million and $0.3
million to the liability component and equity component, respectively. Issuance costs, including fees paid to the initial purchasers who acted as
intermediaries in the placement of the Convertible Notes, attributable to the liability component are presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from
the carrying amount of the debt liability and are amortized to interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes, and the issuance costs attributable to
the equity component were netted with the equity component and included within "Additional paid-in capital" in the condensed consolidated balance
sheets. Interest expense related to the amortization expense of the issuance costs associated with the liability component was not material during the three
months ended March 31, 2016.
As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the outstanding Convertible Notes balance, net of debt issuance costs and discount associated with
the equity component, was $68.5 million and $68.3 million, respectively.
Subject to applicable limitations in the instruments governing our outstanding indebtedness, we may from time to time repurchase our debt in the
open market, through tender offers, through exchanges for debt or equity securities, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise.
Debt consisted of the following at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 (in thousands):
March 31,
2016

Bank Loans
Bank Debt
Convertible Senior Notes

$
$
$

1,171
848
68,506

December 31,
2015

$
$
$

1,374
855
68,335

The following is a schedule, by year, of future minimum principal payments required under notes payable and bank debt as of March 31, 2016 (in
thousands):
Years Ending December 31,

Amount

2016 (remaining nine months)
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter
Total
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$

639
816
53
55
46
83,140

$

84,749
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In the future, we may utilize commercial financings, bonds, debentures, lines of credit and term loans with a syndicate of commercial banks or other
bank syndicates and/or issue equity securities (publicly or privately) for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and investing in our intangible
assets, platform and technologies. We may also use our existing cash and cash equivalents to repurchase outstanding shares of our common stock and/or our
public company warrants. We expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents and our cash flows from operating activities will be sufficient to fund our
operations for at least the next 24 months. However, we may need to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity, equity-related or debt securities or
through additional credit facilities to fund our growing operations, invest in new business opportunities and make potential acquisitions.
Sources and Uses of Cash - Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 vs. Three Months Ended March 31, 2015
The following table presents a summary of our cash flow activity for the periods set forth below (in thousands):
Three months ended March 31,
2016

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

$
$
$

2015

1,601
(5,796)
(42)

$
$
$

(3,754)
(2,651)
85,826

Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
Three Months Ended March 31, 2016
Net cash provided by our operating activities of $1.6 million primarily resulted our net loss during the period of $2.4 million, which included noncash charges of $7.3 million mainly comprised of depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation expense, bad debt expense, non-cash interest
expense, and changes in the fair value of our derivative financial instruments. Offsetting this was a $4.0 million use of cash from changes in our working
capital driven by increases in prepaid expenses due to a one-time $4.5 million prepaid to SES for future Ku capacity, other assets and inventory to
accommodate our planned growth, and a decrease in deferred revenue, partially offset by a decrease in accounts receivable due to improved collections over
the period and increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses and taxes payable.
Three Months Ended March 31, 2015
Net cash used in our operating activities of $3.8 million primarily resulted from our net loss during the period of $3.4 million, which included noncash charges of $6.3 million largely comprised of changes in the fair value of our derivative financial instruments, depreciation and amortization, changes in
our deferred income taxes, and stock-based compensation. The remainder of our uses of cash in operating activities of $9.0 million was from changes in our
working capital, including accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and deferred revenues. The increase in accounts receivable was reflective of the growth in
our corresponding revenue in the period, coupled with the timing of payments from key customers in the period. The increases in prepaid expenses and other
assets were from continued investments to support the growth in our Connectivity equipment installations and Content licensing acquisitions. Offsetting
these uses of cash in operating activities was a net cash inflow of $2.4 million from decreases in content and inventory investments and increases in accounts
payable and other liabilities.
Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities
Three Months Ended March 31, 2016
Net cash used in investing activities of $5.8 million was primarily due to $3.3 million investments in property and equipment as well as a $2.5
million loan to a related party during the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Three Months Ended March 31, 2015
Net cash used in investing activities of $2.7 million was due to investments in property and equipment to build out our internal infrastructure during
the three months ended March 31, 2015.
49

Table of Contents
Cash Flows (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities
Three Months Ended March 31, 2016
Net cash used in financing activities of less than $0.1 million was primarily due to cash used to repay debt, partially offset by cash received from the
exercise of stock options.
Three Months Ended March 31, 2015
Net cash provided by financing activities of $85.8 million was primarily due to cash received from the issuance of the convertible senior notes
of $81.3 million and net proceeds from the exercise of stock options and warrants of $5.0 million.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISKS
Market risk is the sensitivity of income to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market driven
rates or prices.
Market Risk
Connectivity Segment
Our Connectivity segment is generally not exposed to any material risk associated with exchange rates or equity prices. It does not hold or issue
financial instruments for trading purposes. The Connectivity segment has indirect exposure to changes in commodity prices (i.e., the price of jet fuel) because
a key aspect of the decision by its potential customers to purchase the connectivity products is the effect such products may have on an aircraft’s fuel burn.
Content Segment
Our Content segment has exposure primarily to two types of market risk: changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. We do not
hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.
The following sections provide information on exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk and interest rate risks. Parts of our Content segment
make use of sensitivity analysis that is inherently limited in estimating actual losses in fair value that can occur from changes in market conditions.
Foreign Currency Exchange Rates
Our foreign operations are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Currency risks arise from the fact that both sales to customers and
most of their film license costs or film rights purchases are largely effected in U.S. dollars while a significant portion of our Content operation's fixed and
overhead costs are incurred in Euros, British pounds and Canadian dollars. We may engage in hedging transactions to counteract direct currency risks.
However, there can be no assurance that all currency risks have been or will be hedged in full. Severe currency fluctuations could also cause the hedging
transactions to fail if agreed thresholds are not met or exceeded. Therefore, substantial negative foreign currency effects may occur due to unforeseen
exchange rate fluctuations and/or inaccurate assessments of market developments. Historically, we have not engaged in hedging transactions.
There are also intercompany receivables and liabilities such as loans that can generate significant foreign currency effects. Changes in the exchange
rates of a number of foreign currencies against the Euro, especially the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar, could lead to the recognition of unrealized foreign
exchange gains and losses in some cases, particularly as a result of intercompany transactions, including short term borrowings. We have sought to minimize
the impact of intercompany borrowings by reducing the magnitude and quantity of intercompany borrowings.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
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Our cash and cash equivalents are maintained at several financial institutions. Deposits held may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such
deposits. Generally, our deposits may be redeemed upon demand and are maintained with a financial institution of reputable credit and, therefore, bear
minimal credit risk. We monitor our positions with, and the credit quality of, the financial institutions that are counterparties to our financial instruments. We
are exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties to the agreements. At March 31, 2016, we did not anticipate nonperformance
by any of our counterparties. Historically, we have not experienced any losses related to these balances and believe that there is minimal risk of expected
future losses. However, there can be no assurance that there will not be losses on these deposits.
As of March 31, 2016 and 2015, the following customer accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated revenue balance:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016

Southwest Airlines

2015

23%

25%

No other customer accounted for revenues greater than 10% for the two periods presented.
There were no accounts receivable balances from customers that represented more than 10% of total accounts receivable at March 31, 2016 and
December 31, 2015.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
As of the end of the period covered by this report on Form 10-Q, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, as a result of the material weakness identified
in our 2015 Form 10-K, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this report on Form 10Q, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We are in the process of implementing changes, as more fully described in our 2015 Form 10-K, to the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting to remediate the material weakness as described in our 2015 Form 10-K. Other than such changes, there have been no changes in our internal
control over financial reporting during the three months ended March 31, 2016, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Certain legal proceedings in which we are involved are discussed in Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies, to the condensed consolidated
financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
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Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed in response to Part I, Item 1A, of our 2015
Form 10-K.
A court recently issued a decision adverse to us in a case involving allegations of copyright infringement by one of our subsidiaries, which could result in
our having to pay significant damages or injunctive relief against us. We may also be subject to additional similar litigation in the future.
As discussed in Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q,
we and IFP are defendants in a lawsuit filed by UMG Recordings, Inc., Capitol Records, Universal Music Corp. and entities affiliated with the foregoing
(collectively, “UMG”) on May 6, 2014 in the United States District Court for the Central District of California (the “Court”) for copyright infringement and
related claims and unspecified money damages. On April 20, 2016, the Court issued a decision granting UMG’s motion for partial summary judgment,
finding that the Company and IFP willfully infringed UMG’s copyrights. The Company cannot reasonably estimate the potential range of loss in this
matter with precision. A jury will determine the alleged damages at a trial (currently scheduled for July 2016), where the damages range for willful copyright
infringement can vary from $750 and $150,000 per infringed work. UMG has alleged the Company infringed over 4,000 works. Any final judgment against
us which is not satisfied within the applicable time periods under our then-outstanding indebtedness could be deemed to constitute an event of default under
such indebtedness. In the event the Company appeals the results of the damages trial, the Company must post a bond (likely cash collateralized) up to the
amount of the awarded damages, and the Company would no longer have access to that cash. In addition, our borrowing costs and access to capital could be
negatively impacted. The Company is unable to predict an outcome on this matter, but it could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.
The following are risks related to our pending acquisition of EMC:
•

The closing of the acquisition is subject to closing conditions, including obtaining necessary regulatory approvals. If the closing conditions are not
satisfied or waived, either timely or at all, the acquisition will be delayed or will not be completed, which could cause us not to realize some or all of
the anticipated benefits of the acquisition.

•

The market price of our common stock may reflect an assumption that the pending acquisition will occur and on a timely basis, and the failure to do
so may result in a decline in the market price of our common stock.

•

Combining the two companies may prove to be more difficult, costly and time consuming than expected, which could cause us not to realize some
or all of the anticipated benefits and synergies of the acquisition.

•

In connection with the acquisition, we will assume certain of EMC’s outstanding indebtedness, which could adversely affect us, including by
lowering our credit ratings, increasing our interest expense and decreasing our business flexibility, particularly if we are not able to realize some or
all of the anticipated benefits and synergies of the acquisition.

•

We may issue shares of preferred stock to consummate the acquisition, which may significantly dilute the equity interest of existing holders of
common stock, may rank ahead of our common stock in terms of dividends, liquidation rights or voting rights and may adversely affect the market
price of our common stock.

•

The acquisition will involve substantial non-recurring costs, including significant transaction costs, regulatory costs and integration costs, such as
facilities, systems and employment-related costs, and we may incur additional unanticipated costs or unknown liabilities which may be significant.
Although we expect the elimination of duplicative costs and other cost synergies from operational and functional efficiencies following integration
of the two companies to exceed integration costs over time, we may not be able to achieve this result as quickly as anticipated or at all, particularly
if we are not able to realize some or all of the anticipated benefits and cost savings from the acquisition.

•

Sales of our common stock by shareholders of EMC who receive shares of our common stock as part of the acquisition consideration may result in a
decline in the market price of our common stock.

•

Uncertainties associated with the acquisition may adversely affect our and EMC’s respective abilities to attract and retain management and other
key employees during the pendency of the acquisition and the integration period, which could
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adversely affect our and EMC’s respective businesses and operations, which could cause us not to realize some or all of the anticipated benefits of
the acquisition.
•

The acquisition may disrupt our or EMC’s businesses, which may harm our respective businesses and impact our respective abilities to retain
customers.

•

Uncertainties associated with the manner in which the combined company following the acquisition will fare in the global economic environment.

•

The acquisition of EMC and the operation of its business can lead us to incur unknown or new types of costs and liabilities, subject us to new
regulatory and compliance frameworks both domestic and foreign, new market risks, involve operations in new geographies and challenging labor,
regulatory and tax regimes as well as the execution and compliance costs and risks associated with such activities.

•

A significant anticipated benefit of the acquisition of EMC lies in the acquisition of EMC’s intellectual property rights. If we are unable to protect
such intellectual property rights or if our protection efforts are unsuccessful, we may not be able to realize some or all of the anticipated benefits
from the acquisition.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not applicable.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
Not applicable.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
See Exhibit Index attached hereto.
From time to time the Company may use its web site as a channel of distribution of material company information. Financial and other material
information regarding the Company is routinely posted on and accessible at http://investors.geemedia.com. In addition, you may automatically receive email
alerts and other information about the Company by enrolling through the “Email Alerts” section at http://investors.geemedia.com.
The foregoing information regarding the Company web site and its content is for convenience only. The content of its web site is not deemed to be
incorporated by reference into this report nor should it be deemed to have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 9 th day of May 2016.

GLOBAL EAGLE ENTERTAINMENT INC.
By:
/s/ Michael Zemetra
Michael Zemetra
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and duly authorized officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
10.1

Description
Separation Agreement and Mutual General Release, dated as of April 30, 2016, between the Company and Jay Itzkowitz.

10.2

Employment Agreement, dated March 11, 2016, by and between the Company and Stephen Ballas.

31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.1

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

32.2

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

101.1

The following financial information from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 formatted in eXtensible
Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2016 (Unaudited) and December 31,
2015; (ii) Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015; (iii)
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015;
(iv) Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the three months ended March 31, 2016; (v) Unaudited
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015; and (vi) Notes to Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Exhibit 10.1

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND MUTUAL GENERAL RELEASE
THIS SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND MUTUAL GENERAL RELEASE (this “ Agreement”) is dated as of April
30th, 2016 and entered into by and between Jay Itzkowitz, for himself and his heirs, successors and assigns (collectively, “Employee”),
and Global Eagle Entertainment Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and its affiliates. Together, Employee and Company
shall be referred to, individually, as a “party,” and, collectively, as the “parties.”
RECITALS
A.

Employee has served as an employee of the Company or one of its affiliates.

B.
On April 30th, 2016 (the “Termination Date”), Employee’s employment by the Company will end by mutual
agreement and Employee has received all wages, salary, commissions and other benefits owed to him by the Company as of that date.
C.
The parties desire the full, amicable and final resolution of any and all claims that either party may have or
claim to have against the other, on the conditions set forth herein.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the adequacy and receipt of which are hereby expressly
acknowledged, each of the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agrees as follows:
1.
No Admission of Liability . The parties agree that this Agreement, and performance of the acts required by it,
do not constitute an admission of liability, culpability, negligence, or wrongdoing on the part of anyone, and will not be construed for
any purpose as an admission of liability, culpability, negligence, or wrongdoing by any party. The parties specifically acknowledge and
agree that each party denies any liability for any matter released hereunder.
2 . Termination Benefits. Notwithstanding the terms of the Employment Agreement, Employee shall be entitled to the
following compensation and benefits (collectively, “Termination Benefits”), and no other compensation or benefits:
•

•
•
•

Following the effective date of this Agreement (as described below), Employee shall be paid twelve (12) months of
base salary (for a total amount of $310,000.00), which amount shall be paid over the twelve (12) month period
following the effective date of this Agreement (as described below) on the Company’s normal payroll dates and by
direct deposit to the same account as currently used, less applicable withholdings and payroll taxes.
Following the effective date of this Agreement (as described below), Employee shall be provided with up to twelve
(12) months of subsidized COBRA benefits coverage should Employee elect to enroll in this benefit.
Following the effective date of this Agreement (as described below) Employee shall be provided with one (1) month
of outplacement services by Knightsbridge or another third party selected by the Company.
Following the effective date of this Agreement (as described below), the exercise period upon termination of
employment for employee’s currently vested stock options currently set at three (3) months from the date of such
termination shall be extended to a period of twelve (12) months

from the Termination Date; provided, however, that any such options shall be exercisable only to the extent the
Employee was entitled to exercise such option on the Termination Date.
3 . Release of Claims by Employee. In consideration for the promises set forth above, including without limitation the
Termination Benefits, Employee, for himself and his heirs, successors and assigns, does hereby waive, release, acquit and forever
discharge the Company and each of its current, former, and future parent corporations, subsidiaries, affiliates, employee benefit plans,
and related entities or corporations, and their past and present officers, directors, shareholders, employees, creditors, fiduciaries, agents,
employees, partners, attorneys, representatives, promoters, heirs, predecessors, successors, and assigns (each a “Company Released
Party”), from any and all claims, actions, charges, complaints, grievances and causes of action (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“Employee Claims”), of whatever nature, whether known or unknown, which exist or may exist on Employee’s behalf against each
Company Released Party as of the date of this Agreement, including but not limited to any and all Employee Claims arising out of or
relating to the offer of employment to Employee, Employee’s employment with the Company, or the termination of that employment.
Employee understands and agree that he is waiving any and all rights he may have had, now has, or in the future may have, to pursue
any and all remedies available to him under any employment-related cause of action, including without limitation, any and all claims
under his Employment Agreement, tort claims, contract claims, fiduciary duty claims, wage claims, bonus claims, commission claims,
wrongful termination claims, public policy claims, retaliation claims, statutory claims, California Labor Code claims, personal injury
claims, emotional distress claims, invasion of privacy claims, defamation claims, fraud claims, quantum meruit claims, and any and all
claims arising under any federal, state or other governmental statute, law, regulation or ordinance covering employment, conditions of
employment (including wage and hour laws) and/or discrimination in employment, including but not limited to, all as amended, the
United States Constitution, the Constitution of the State of California, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination
in Employment Act of 1967 (the “ADEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, the Family and Medical
Leave Act, the California Family Rights Act, and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, including race, color, religious
creed, national origin, ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, family care leave, marital status, sex, sexual
orientation, age and any harassment or retaliation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee is not hereby releasing the Company from
any of the following claims (collectively, the “Excluded Claims”): (a) any rights or claims for indemnification Employee may have
pursuant to any written indemnification agreement with the Company to which Employee is a party, the charter or bylaws of the
Company, or under applicable law; (b) any rights which cannot be waived as a matter of law; or (c) any claims arising from the breach
of this Agreement. In addition, nothing in this Agreement prevents Employee from filing, cooperating with, or participating in any
proceeding before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Department of Labor, or the California Department of Fair
Employment and Housing, except that Employee hereby waives any right to any monetary benefits in connection with any such claim,
charge or proceeding. Employee hereby represents and warrants that, other than the Excluded Claims, Employee is not aware of any
claims Employee has or might have against any Company Released Party.
4 . Release of Claims by Company. In consideration of the obligations of the Employee set forth in this Agreement, for the release of
claims by the Employee and for other good and valuable consideration, the Company, on its own behalf and on behalf of its
predecessors, successors, assigns, subsidiaries, members, managers, officers, employees, representatives, attorneys, insurers and agents,
hereby covenant not to sue and hereby release and discharge the Employee, his heirs, executors, administrators, successors, assigns,
dependents, descendants, attorneys, insurers and agents (each an “Employee Released Party”), from any and all claims, actions,
charges, complaints, grievances and causes of action (collectively, the Company Claims”) that any Company Released Party has or
may in the future have against any Employee Released Party, or which might or could have been, might or could be (in the past, now or
hereafter) asserted with respect to any Employee Released Party and any and all dealings and disputes between the parties, including
but not limited to any and all Company Claims arising out of or relating to the Employee’s Employment with the Company or their
affiliates or termination of that employment.
5. Waiver Of Unknown Claims. Each party acknowledges that he or it may hereafter discover claims or facts in addition
to or different from those that he or it now knows or believes to exist with respect to the subject matter of the releases contained in this
Agreement and which, if known or suspected at the time of executing

this Agreement, might have materially affected him or its release or its decision to enter into this Agreement. Nevertheless, each party
waives any right, claim, or cause of action that might arise as a result of such different or additional claims or facts. In particular, and
without limiting the foregoing, the parties acknowledge that they have read and understand Section 1542 of the California Civil Code
which reads as follows:
“A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor
at the time of executing the release which if known by him or her must have materially affected him or her
settlement with the debtor.”
The parties hereby expressly waive and relinquish all rights and benefits under that provision of California law and any
law of any jurisdiction of similar effect with respect to their release of any claims hereunder. In that regard, the parties agree that the
releases set forth in this section shall be and remain in effect in all respects as complete general releases as to the matters released.
6. Acknowledgement of Waiver of Claims Under ADEA . Employee acknowledges that he is waiving and releasing any
rights he may have under the ADEA and that this Agreement is knowing and voluntary. Employee acknowledges that the
consideration given for this Agreement and the general release set forth herein is in addition to anything of value to which Employee
was already entitled. Employee further acknowledges that he has been advised by this writing that:
(a)

Employee should consult with an attorney prior to executing this Agreement;

(b)
Employee has up to twenty-one (21) days within which to consider this Agreement and seven (7) days
following his execution of this Agreement to revoke it as set forth in Section 21;
(c)

This Agreement shall not be effective until the revocation period has expired; and

(d)
Nothing in this Agreement precludes him from challenging or seeking a determination in good faith of
the validity of this waiver under the ADEA, nor does it impose any condition precedent, penalties or costs for doing so, unless
specifically authorized by federal law.
7 . Ownership of Claims. Employee represents and warrants that he is the sole and lawful owner of all rights, title and
interest in and to all released matters, claims and demands referred to herein. Employee further represents and warrants that there has
been no assignment or other transfer of any interest in any such matters, claims or demands which Employee may have against the
Company.
8 . Return of Company Property. Company will allow Employee to retain the current MacBook Air and iphone 6
(including the applicable phone number) issued to him following a complete back up by the Company. Except as otherwise set forth in
this Agreement, Employee agrees that, prior to and as a condition of receiving the benefits set forth in this Agreement, Employee will
return all Company property in his possession, custody, or control, including, without limitation, Employee’s computer with the data
files, including, without limitation, communications and documents, thereon completely intact as of immediately prior to the end of
Employee’s employment with the Company, and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the storage drives on such devices
shall not have been reformatted or erased. Further, Employee will provide the Company all passwords and passcodes with respect to
any Company material stored on any Company property that was in Employee’s possession or control during Employee’s employment
with the Company, including access to any online storage repositories utilized in the course of employment, and copies of any
Company material stored on any non-Company electronic and/or online storage repositories under the control of Employee, all in the
form utilized by Employee during his employment.
9. Proprietary Information. Employee acknowledges that due to the position he has occupied and the responsibilities he
has had at Company, he has received confidential information concerning Company’s procedures, customers, sales, prices, contracts,
and the like. Employee acknowledges and agrees that if he previously

executed any proprietary rights, non-disclosure or similar agreement with the Company or any of its affiliates, he shall remain bound by
the obligations of such agreements.
10. Confidentiality. Employee understands and agrees that this Agreement, and the matters discussed in negotiating its
terms, are entirely confidential. It is therefore expressly understood and agreed by Employee that he will not reveal, discuss, publish or
in any way communicate any of the terms, amount or fact of this Agreement to any person, organization or other entity, except to his
immediate family members and professional representatives, all of whom shall be informed of and agree to be bound by this
confidentiality clause (unless already bound by an equivalent obligation of confidentiality) before any such disclosure
11 . Non-Disparagement and Reference. Employee agrees that he will not in any way, either directly or indirectly,
disparage the Company or any other Company Released Party (or any of their respective employees, officers, directors, or agents),
including, without limitation, by conduct or communication; provided that you may respond accurately and fully to any question,
inquiry or request for information when required by legal process. Company agrees that it will, if requested by Employee in connection
with any future employment, provide a positive reference letter.
12. Termination of Agreements . Except as set forth herein, including the extension of the exercise time period set forth
in Employee’s stock option agreements with the Company, and with respect to any agreements containing obligations of Employee to
preserve and protect the confidential information of the Company and its affiliates, containing obligations of Employee to assign
intellectual property to the Company and its affiliates, and containing any non-competition and non-solicitation obligations of
Employee (including, but, not limited to, such provisions in Attachment A to Employee’s Offer Letter dated October 1, 2013), this
Agreement supersedes and replaces all other previous agreements between Employee and the Company and its affiliates, whether
express or implied, oral or written, (collectively, “Prior Agreements”). Except with respect to the foregoing, all Prior Agreements are
terminated and no party to them has any continuing rights or obligations under any such agreement.
13.
Cooperation in Litigation. Employee agrees that he will (i) provide reasonable assistance and cooperation to the
Company in activities related to the prosecution or defense of any pending or future lawsuits, arbitrations, and other proceedings or
claims involving the Company (“Company Litigation”); (ii) make himself available to the Company, at the cost of the Company, on
reasonable notice in a manner that is not unduly burdensome to the Employee or to his potential future employer and without the need
for issuance of any subpoena or similar process to testify in any Company Litigation; (iii) refrain from providing any information
related to any Company Litigation or potential Company Litigation to any non-Company representative until he shall (A) have first
obtained written consent of the Company or (B) be required to provide such information pursuant to legal process; and (iv) if required
by legal process to provide sworn testimony in any Company Litigation, consult with and permit Company-designated legal counsel to
be present for such testimony, the costs of such designated counsel to be solely the responsibility of the Company. If sworn testimony
of the Employee is required by legal process in any Company Litigation, Employee shall confine his testimony to items about which he
has knowledge, rather than speculation or opinion testimony, unless otherwise directed by legal process. The parties hereto agree that
the provisions of this paragraph are not applicable to any proceeding involving any alleged breach of this Agreement.
14. Indemnification and D&O Insurance Coverage. Employee will continue to be covered in full under the terms of the
“Form of Indemnity Agreement” attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “ Indemnity Agreement”) and in particularly those provisions relating
to an Officer of the Company as covered therein. The Company agrees that Employee is and will remain a covered “Officer” for
purposes of the Indemnity Agreement. In addition, the Company covenants that it will keep D&O insurance coverage in place for the
Employee. The Corporation agrees that nothing contained in this Letter Agreement releases or otherwise impacts the Employee’s rights
pursuant to the Company’s Directors and Officers liability insurance policies, including but not limited to the Company’s ‘Side A
Difference in Conditions’ (‘DIC’) policies (collectively, the “ D&O Policies”). The D&O Policies will continue to provide the Employee
coverage pursuant to their respective terms and conditions for any claim that potentially involves the Employee or the Employee’s
actions undertaken during his employment with the Company. Should Employee require legal representation pursuant to the
Company’s indemnification obligations, Employee will have the right to approve the counsel provided by the Company pursuant to its
indemnification obligations and Employee will have the

right to counsel who bills at rates similar to those charged by counsel retained on behalf of other senior officers of the Company in any
similar matter. The Company reaffirms its obligations under the Indemnity Policy to advance all fees and expenses in connection with
any legal representation provided pursuant to the Indemnity Agreement.
15. Press Release. Should the Company wish to issue a press release or any formal form of communication regarding the
Employee’s separation from the Company, such press release or other form of communication shall be to the mutual satisfaction of the
Company and the Employee
16. Voluntary Execution. Employee hereby acknowledges that he has read and understands this Agreement and that he
signs this Agreement voluntarily and without coercion. Employee further acknowledges that he has been advised by the Company to
obtain independent legal advice regarding the matters contained in this Agreement. Employee further acknowledges that the waivers he
has made in this Agreement are knowing, conscious and voluntary and are made with full appreciation that he is forever foreclosed
from pursuing any of the rights waived.
17. Severability. Employee agrees that if any provision of the release given by him under this Agreement is found to be
unenforceable or illegal, it will not affect the enforceability of the remaining provisions and the courts may enforce all remaining
provisions to the extent permitted by law.
18. Successors And Assigns. It is expressly understood and agreed by Employee that this Agreement and all of its terms
shall be binding upon the parties’ respective representatives, heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, and inures to the
benefit of each of the Company’s current, former, and future corporate parents, subsidiaries, related entities, affiliates, employee benefit
plans, and related entities or corporations and their past and present officers, directors, shareholders, creditors, fiduciaries, agents,
employees, partners, attorneys, representatives, promoters, heirs, predecessors, successors, and assigns.
1 9 . Integration. This Agreement (including the Recitals hereto) constitutes a single, integrated, written contract,
expressing the entire agreement between the parties; provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall be
construed to limit, impair or terminate any obligation of Employee pursuant to any restrictive covenants under the Prior Agreements, as
provided in Section 13 of this Agreement. In this regard, Employee represents and warrants that he is not relying on any promises or
representations which do not appear written herein. Employee acknowledges and agrees that he enters into this Agreement based upon
his own judgment and not in reliance upon any representations or promises made by the Company or anyone acting on behalf of the
Company, other than those contained within this Agreement. The parties further agree that if any of the facts or matters upon which
they now rely in making this Agreement hereafter prove to be otherwise, this Agreement will nonetheless remain in full force and
effect. Employee and Company further understand and agree that the Agreement can be amended or modified only by a written
agreement, signed by all of the parties hereto.
21. Time Periods. Employee acknowledges that he has been given twenty-one (21) days to consider this Agreement. If
Employee elects to sign this Agreement before that time period expires, Employee will do so knowingly and voluntarily. Employee
understands that he has up to seven (7) days after executing and delivering this Agreement to rescind this agreement by notifying Zant
Chapelo at the Company (zant.chapelo@geemedia.com) of this fact in writing within the seven (7) day period. The effective date of this
Agreement will be at the end of the seven (7) day period if no revocation has been received.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Separation Agreement and General Release on the date
first written above.
EMPLOYEE
Jay Itzkowitz
By: /s/ Jay Itzkowitz
COMPANY
Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.
By: /s/ Zant Chapelo
Name: Zant Chapelo
Title: SVP Human Resources and Org Development

Exhibit 10.2
4553 Glencoe Avenue, Suite 300
Marina Del Rey, CA 90292

March 11, 2016
Stephen Ballas
Re: Offer of Employment
Dear Stephen:
Global Eagle Entertainment Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to offer you employment on the following terms:
1.
Position. Your title will be Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary and you
will report to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. This is a full-time position in the Company. By signing this letter
agreement (this “Agreement”), you confirm to the Company that you have no contractual commitments or other legal
obligations that would prohibit you from performing your duties for the Company.

2.
Period of Employment. Subject to Section 8 below, your employment with the Company will
commence on April 11th, 2016 or a date that is mutually agreed upon between you and your manager (“Commencement
Date”) and continue until you resign from the Company or your employment with the Company is terminated (the
“Employment Period”).
3.
Cash Compensation. The Company will pay you a starting “base” salary at the rate of $335,000.00
per year, less applicable withholdings and payroll taxes, payable in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll schedule.
In addition to the foregoing base salary, subject to achieving certain performance milestones to be agreed upon in writing
between you and your supervisor, you will be eligible for an annual performance bonus based on the GEE Annual Incentive
Plan, with a target annual incentive thereunder equal to 50% of your base salary from time to time; provided, that, final
determination of eligibility and payment of all performance bonuses shall be subject to the complete discretion of the Board of
Directors of the Company. Your 2016 AIP eligibility will be for full year 2016 rather than prorated based on the
Commencement Date. In addition, the Company will pay you $50,000.00 as a starting bonus within thirty (30) days of the
Commencement Date, provided you are still employed with the Company at such time.
4.
Equity Incentive. Subject to the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors and after your
employment start date; you will be granted equity in the Company with a fair market value (priced on your start date) equal to
$812,500, consisting of (i) 50% as options (using a Black-Scholes valuation) to purchase the Company’s Common Stock (the
“Option Award”) and (ii) 50% as restricted stock units (the “Stock Award”). The exercise price per share of your Option
Award will be equal to the fair market value per share on your first day of employment. Both the Option Award and the Stock
Award will be subject to the terms and conditions applicable to such awards granted under the Company’s 2013 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). With respect to your Option Award, 25% of your option shares will vest after 12 months of
continuous service, and the balance

will vest in equal monthly installments over the following 36 months of continuous service, as described in the Plan. Subject to
your continued service with the Company and the additional terms and conditions of the Plan, your Stock Award will vest in
equal yearly installments with the first increment of 25% of the Stock Award vesting on the first anniversary of your start date,
a second increment of 25% of the Stock Award vesting on the second anniversary of your start date, a third increment of
25% of the Stock Award vesting on the third anniversary of your start date, and the final increment of 25% of the Stock Award
vesting on the fourth anniversary of your start date. In addition, in the event of a Change of Control (as defined in the Plan) and
the termination of your employment with the Company without Cause (as defined below) within twelve months of such
Change of Control, all of the outstanding unvested options subject to your Option Award and all outstanding unvested
restricted stock units subject to your Stock Award, shall automatically vest. Any shares of Common Stock that you acquire
through the exercise of any Option Award or Stock Award may be subject to certain repurchase rights of the Company, as
further set forth in the Plan.
5.
Severance Pay. If, during the Employment Period, your employment with the Company is terminated
by the Company with Cause, or if you resign for any reason, then you will only be entitled to receive your base salary through
the date of termination and will not be entitled to any other salary, bonus, severance, compensation or benefits from the
Company or affiliates thereafter, other than those expressly required under applicable law (such as the Consolidated Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA)). If your employment with the Company is terminated by the
Company without Cause during the Employment Period, and, within twenty-one (21) days of your termination you execute a
general release in favor of the Company, its subsidiaries and their affiliates in the form provided by the Company and such
release becomes effective and is not revoked, and you comply with the terms of this Agreement, you will be entitled to receive
your base salary and medical benefits for a period equal to twelve (12) months after the date of termination. Subject to any
requirements under applicable law, the severance payments payable to you pursuant to this offer letter will be paid over the
twelve (12) months after the date of termination in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices. For purposes of
this offer letter, “Cause” will mean (i) the commission of a felony or other crime involving moral turpitude or the commission of
any other act or omission involving misappropriation, dishonesty, unethical business conduct, disloyalty, fraud or breach of
fiduciary duty, (ii) reporting to work under the influence of alcohol, (iii) the use of illegal drugs (whether or not at the
workplace) or other conduct, even if not in conjunction with his duties hereunder, which could reasonably be expected to, or
which does, cause the Company or any of its Subsidiaries material public disgrace, disrepute or economic harm, (iv) repeated
failure to perform duties as reasonably directed by the Board and/or the Company’s principal executive officer, (v) gross
negligence or willful misconduct with respect to the Company or affiliates or in the performance of your duties hereunder, (vi)
obtaining any personal profit not thoroughly disclosed to and approved by the Board in connection with any transaction entered
into by, or on behalf of, the Company, its subsidiaries or any of their affiliates, or (vii) materially violating any of the terms of
the Company’s, its subsidiaries’ or any of their affiliates’ rules or policies which, if curable, is not cured to the Board’s
satisfaction within fifteen (15) days after written notice thereof to you, or any other breach of this offer letter or any other
agreement between you and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which, if curable, is not cured to the Board’s satisfaction
within fifteen (15) days after written notice thereof to you.
6.
Employee Benefits. You will be entitled to receive standard employee benefits made available by the
company to its employees to the full extent of your eligibility. Details of these benefits will be provided to you under separate
cover. At present, the Company offers medical, dental, vision, and 401K plans. The Company shall reimburse you for all
reasonable business expenses

actually incurred or paid by you in the performance of your services on behalf of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s expense reimbursement policy. You will also have unlimited paid time off, subject to the CEO’s approval.
7.
Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement. As a condition of your employment with the
Company, please sign the Company’s Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as
Attachment A and which is an integral portion of this Agreement.
8.
Employment Relationship. Your employment with the Company will be “at will,” meaning that
either you or the Company may terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, with or without cause. Any
contrary representations that may have been made to you are superseded by this letter agreement. This is the full and complete
agreement between you and the Company on this term. Although your job duties, title, compensation and benefits, as well as
the Company’s personnel policies and procedures, may change from time to time, the “at will” nature of your employment may
only be changed in an express written agreement signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company (other than you).
9.
Outside Activities. While you render services to the Company, you agree that you will not engage in
any other employment, consulting or any of the foregoing activities in material amount and/or that would detract from the
quality of services you are rendering the company, without the prior written consent of the Chief Executive Officer. While you
render services to the Company, you also will not assist any person or entity in competing with the Company, in preparing to
compete with the Company or in hiring any employees or consultants of the Company.
10.
Withholding Taxes. All forms of compensation referred to in this letter agreement are subject to
reduction to reflect applicable withholding and payroll taxes and other deductions required by law.
11.
Drug Testing and Background Check. As a condition to your employment with the Company,
you acknowledge that the Company requires that a drug test be performed within 72 hours of your acceptance of the offer of
employment set forth in this letter. You further acknowledge that if you (a) refuse to submit to any requested drug test for any
reason, (b) test positive for the presence of illegal drugs, or (c) fail to take the test within 72 hours, the offer of employment
made to you in this letter may be rescinded by the Company without liability. Also as a condition of employment by the
Company, you hereby authorize the Company to conduct a background check prior to the Commencement Date, which will
include a criminal investigation and verification of citizenship/immigration status, employment history, and education. In that
regard, you acknowledge and agree that the offer of employment set forth in this letter is contingent upon the completion of a
background investigation to the satisfaction of the Company. In consideration for the offer of employment set forth herein, you
hereby waive any and all claims that you may have against the Company for invasion of your privacy or under any other legal
theory or statute in respect of the drug testing and background checks referenced above.
12.
Entire Agreement. This letter agreement supersedes and replaces any prior agreements,
representations or understandings, whether written, oral or implied, between you and the Company.
*****

You may indicate your agreement with these terms and accept this offer by signing and dating both the enclosed
duplicate original of this letter agreement and the enclosed Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement and returning them to the
undersigned. Your employment is also contingent upon your starting work with the Company on or before the Commencement Date.
Very truly yours,
Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.

By: /s/ David M. Davis
Printed Name: David M. Davis

Title: Chief Executive Officer

I have read and accept this employment offer:
/s/ Stephen Ballas
Signature of Stephen Ballas

Dated: March 11, 2016
Attachment
Attachment A: Confidentiality, Proprietary Information and Invention Assignment

Attachment A
GLOBAL EAGLE ENTERTAINMENT INC.
EMPLOYEE STATEMENT & AGREEMENTS REGARDING
CONFIDENTIALITY, PROPRIETARY INFORMATION
AND INVENTION ASSIGNMENT
In consideration of and as a condition of my employment and continued employment with Global Eagle Entertainment Inc., its
subsidiaries, affiliates, successors or assigns (together “Global Eagle”), and my receipt of the salary and other compensation to be paid
to me by Global Eagle, I, the undersigned employee, do hereby agree to the following (this “Agreement”):
1. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION, COPYRIGHTS, MASK WORKS & INVENTIONS
Global Eagle is an electronics, entertainment and services firm engaged in the research, development, manufacturing, sale, support and
provision of electronic and communication systems, entertainment content, content logistics and processing, and components and
materials for providing broadband internet, video and voice services on aircraft (the “Business of Global Eagle”).
The success of Global Eagle depends, among other things, upon strictly maintaining confidential and secret information relating to its
trade secrets, technology, accounting, costs, research, development, sales, manufacturing, methods, production, testing,
implementation, marketing, financial information, financial results, products, customers, suppliers, staffing levels, employees,
shareholders, officers and other information peculiarly within the knowledge of and relating to the Business of Global Eagle, and to
which employees may acquire knowledge or have access to during the course of their employment by Global Eagle. All such
information is hereinafter collectively referred to as “Proprietary Information.” Proprietary Information shall be broadly defined. It
includes all information, data, trade secrets or know-how that has or could have commercial value or other utility in the Business of
Global Eagle or in which it contemplates engaging. Proprietary Information also includes all information the unauthorized disclosure of
which is or could be detrimental to the interests of Global Eagle, whether or not such information is identified as confidential or
proprietary information by Global Eagle.
Notwithstanding the above, Proprietary Information shall not include any information, data, trade secrets or know-how that (i) I can
prove was known by me prior to the commencement of my employment with Global Eagle or (ii) is or becomes publicly known from
another source that is under no obligation of confidentiality to Global Eagle without fault on my part. I do not know any information,
data, trade secrets or know-how that would be Proprietary Information but for this provision.
The success of Global Eagle also depends upon the timely disclosure of inventions made by Global Eagle employees in the course of
their employment and, in appropriate circumstances, the full cooperation of employee inventors in filing, maintaining and enforcing
United States and foreign country patent applications and patents covering such inventions.
In view of the foregoing and in consideration of my employment by Global Eagle and as a further condition thereof, I agree as follows:
A. PREVIOUS EMPLOYMENT
I acknowledge that it is the policy of Global Eagle to require that its employees strictly honor all obligations regarding
proprietary information of former employers. I acknowledge and agree that I have a continuing obligation to protect and
safeguard the proprietary information of my former employer(s), if any. I agree to read my agreement(s), if any, with my
former employers(s) with respect to proprietary information and to abide by all the terms and conditions set forth
therein.
B. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

I shall use my best efforts to exercise utmost diligence to protect and guard the Proprietary Information of Global Eagle.
Neither during my employment by Global Eagle nor thereafter shall I, directly or indirectly, use for myself or another, or
disclose to another, any Proprietary Information (whether acquired, learned, obtained or developed by me alone or in
conjunction with others) of Global Eagle, except as such disclosure or use is (i) required in connection with my
employment with Global Eagle, (ii) consented to in writing by Global Eagle or (iii) legally required to be disclosed
pursuant to a subpoena or court order, and in the case of (iii), disclosure may only be made after I have informed Global
Eagle of such requirement and assisted Global Eagle in taking reasonable steps to seek a protective order or other
appropriate action. I agree not to remove any materials relating to the work performed at Global Eagle without the prior
written permission of the Board of Directors of Global Eagle. Upon request by Global Eagle at any time, including the
event of my termination of employment with Global Eagle, I shall promptly deliver to Global Eagle, without retaining
any copies, notes or excerpts thereof, all memoranda, journals, notebooks, diaries, notes, records, plats, sketches, plans,
specifications, or other documents (including documents on electronic media) relating directly or indirectly to any
Proprietary Information made or compiled by or delivered or made available to or otherwise obtained by me. Each of
the foregoing obligations shall apply with respect to Proprietary Information of customers, contractors and others with
whom Global Eagle has a business relationship, learned or acquired by me during the course of my employment by
Global Eagle. The provisions of this section shall continue in full force and effect after my termination of employment
for whatever reason. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement shall (i) prohibit the
employee from making reports of possible violations of federal law or regulation to any governmental agency or entity
in accordance with the provisions of and rules promulgated under Section 21F of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
or Section 806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or of any other whistleblower protection provisions of state or federal
law or regulation, or (ii) require notification or prior approval by Global Eagle of any reporting described in clause (i)
C. COPYRIGHT & MASK WORKS
All rights in and to any copyrightable material (including, but not limited to, computer programs) or material protectable
as a mask work under the Semiconductor Chip Protection Act of 1984 which I may originate pursuant to or in
connection with the Business of Global Eagle, and which are not expressly released by Global Eagle in writing, shall be
deemed as a work for hire and shall be the sole and exclusive property of Global Eagle, its successors, assigns or other
legal representatives.
D. INVENTIONS
With the exception of "EXEMPT" inventions, as defined herein, any and all inventions, including original works of
authorship, concepts, trade secrets, improvements, developments and discoveries, whether or not patentable or
registrable under copyright or similar laws, which I may conceive or first reduce to practice (or cause to be conceived or
first reduced to practice), either alone or with others during the period of my employment by Global Eagle (hereinafter
referred to as “Global Eagle Inventions”) shall be the sole and exclusive property of Global Eagle, its successors,
assigns, designees, or other legal representatives (“Global Eagle Representatives”) and shall be promptly disclosed to
Global Eagle in writing, and I hereby assign to Global Eagle all of my right, title and interest in such Global Eagle
Inventions.
I agree to keep and maintain adequate and current written records of all Global Eagle Inventions and their development
that I make (solely or jointly with others) during the period of employment. These records will be in the form of notes,
sketches, drawings, and any other format that may be specified by Global Eagle. The records will be available to and
remain the sole property of Global Eagle at all times.
I shall, without further compensation or consideration, but at no expense to me:

(a)

Communicate to Global Eagle any facts known by me respecting said Global Eagle Inventions;

(b)

do all lawful acts, including the execution and delivery of all papers and proper oaths and the giving of testimony
deemed necessary or desirable by Global Eagle or Global Eagle Representatives, with regard to said Global Eagle
Inventions, for protecting, obtaining, securing rights in, maintaining and enforcing any and all copyrights, patents,
mask work rights or other intellectual property rights in the United States and throughout the world for said Global
Eagle Inventions, and for perfecting, affirming, recording and maintaining in Global Eagle and Global Eagle
Representatives sole and exclusive right, title and interest in and to the Global Eagle Inventions, and any copyrights,
Patents, mask work rights or other intellectual property rights relating thereto; and

(c)

generally cooperate to the fullest extent in all matters pertaining to said Global Eagle Inventions, original works of
authorship, concepts, trade secrets, improvements, developments and discoveries, any and all applications,
specifications, oaths, assignments and all other instruments which Global Eagle shall deem necessary in order to
apply for and obtain such rights and in order to assign and convey to Global Eagle, its successors, assigns and
nominees the sole and exclusive rights, title and interest in and to such Global Eagle Inventions, and any copyrights,
patents, mask work rights or other intellectual property rights relating thereto.

An "EXEMPT" invention is one which:
(a)

was developed entirely on my own time without using Global Eagle equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret
information;

(b)

does not relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to Global Eagle business, or to its
actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development; and

(c)does not result from any work performed by me for Global Eagle.
Inventions which I consider to be "EXEMPT" but made solely or jointly with others during the term of my employment,
shall be disclosed in confidence to Global Eagle for the purpose of determining such issues as may arise.
I acknowledge and agree that my obligations with respect to the foregoing shall continue after the termination of my
employment with Global Eagle. If Global Eagle is unable because of my mental or physical incapacity or for any other
reason to secure my signature to apply for or to pursue any application for any United States or foreign patents or
copyright registrations covering Global Eagle Inventions or original works of authorship assigned to Global Eagle as
above, then I hereby irrevocably designate and appoint Global Eagle and its duly authorized officers and agents as my
agent and attorney in fact, to act for and in my behalf and stead to execute and file any such applications and to do all
other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of letters, patents or copyright registrations thereon
with the same legal force and effect as if executed by me.
Listed on the attached sheet by descriptive title for purposes of identification only are all of the inventions made by me (conceived and
reduced to practice) prior to my employment by Global Eagle that I consider to be my property and excluded from this Agreement.
NOTICE UNDER SECTION 2872
This Agreement has been drafted to be in conformance with Section 2870 of Article 3.5 (INVENTIONS MADE BY EMPLOYEE) of the
Labor Code of the State of California as amended 1991 and, as required by Section 2872, notification is hereby given that this
Employment Agreement does not apply to an invention which qualifies as an

"EXEMPT" invention under the provisions of Section 2870. Global Eagle reserves the right to modify Provision D to conform to
applicable state or federal law. Please note that your obligations under this Agreement may change pursuant to changes in the law of the
State of California. California Labor Code Section 2870 reads as follows:
(a) Any provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee shall assign, or offer to assign, any of his or
her rights in an invention to his or her employer shall not apply to an invention that the employee developed entirely on his or
her own time without using the employer's equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information except for those inventions
that either: (1) Relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to the employer's business, or actual or
demonstrably anticipated research or development of the employer; or (2) Result from any work performed by the employee for
the employer. (b) To the extent a provision in an employment agreement purports to require an employee to assign an invention
otherwise excluded from being required to be assigned under subdivision (a), the provision is against the public policy of this
state and is unenforceable.
2. NON-COMPETITION AND NONI acknowledge and agree that Global Eagle is entitled to protect its legitimate business interests and investments and prevent me from
using my knowledge of its trade secrets and Proprietary Information to the detriment of Global Eagle. I also acknowledge that the
nature of the business of Global Eagle is such that the on-going relationship among Global Eagle and its employees, clients and
customers is material and has a significant effect on the ability of Global Eagle to obtain business. In view of the foregoing and in
consideration of my employment by Global Eagle and as further condition thereof, I agree as follows:
A. NON-COMPETITION
During the period of my employment, I will use my best efforts, skill and judgment to promote and advance Global Eagle’s
business interests and refrain from competing, directly or indirectly, with Global Eagle.
B. NON-SOLICITATION
During the period of my employment and for one (1) year thereafter (the “Restricted Period”), I will not, without Global
Eagle's prior written consent, directly or indirectly, induce, knowingly solicit or encourage to leave the employment of
Global Eagle, any employee of Global Eagle.
I acknowledge that the limits set forth herein are reasonable and properly required to adequately protect Global Eagle’s legitimate
business interests and to prevent unfair competition. However, if in any proceeding, a court or arbitrator shall refuse to enforce this
Agreement, whether because the time limit is too long or because the restrictions contained herein are more extensive (whether as to
geographic area, scope of business or otherwise) than is necessary to protect the business of Global Eagle, it is expressly understood
and agreed between the parties hereto that this Agreement is deemed modified to the extent necessary to permit this Agreement to be
enforced in any such proceedings.
3. ARBITRATION
Any and all claims or controversies arising out of or relating to my employment, the termination thereof, or otherwise arising between
the parties hereto shall, in lieu of a jury or other civil trial, be settled by final and binding arbitration before a single arbitrator in Los
Angeles, California, in accordance with then-current rules of the American Arbitration Association applicable to employment disputes.
This agreement to arbitrate includes all claims whether arising in tort or contract and whether arising under statute or common law
including, but not limited to, any claim of breach of contract, discrimination or harassment of any kind. The obligation to arbitrate such
claims shall continue forever, and the arbitrator shall have jurisdiction to determine the arbitrability of any claim. The arbitrator shall
have the authority to award any and all damages otherwise recoverable in a court of law. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to
add to, subtract from or modify any of the terms of this Agreement. Judgment on any award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered
and enforced by any court having jurisdiction thereof. Global Eagle shall be solely responsible for all costs of the arbitration other than
the amount of the then-current filing fee charged by the Superior Court of the

State of California for filing a complaint. That amount of that filing fee shall be borne by me and applied to any fee that the arbitrator
shall impose. Each party shall be responsible for paying its own other costs for the arbitration process, including attorneys' fees, witness
fees, transcript costs, lodging and travel expenses, expert witness fees, and online research charges, subject to the last sentence of this
provision. I shall not be required to pay any type or amount of expense if such requirement would invalidate this agreement or would
otherwise be contrary to the law as it exists at the time of the arbitration. The prevailing party in any arbitration shall be entitled to
recover its reasonable attorney’s fees and costs, where authorized by contract or statute.
4. GENERAL PROVISIONS
A.

This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of California.

B.

This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding between Global Eagle and me relating to the subject
matter herein and merges all prior discussions between us. No modification of or amendment to this Agreement, nor any
waiver or any rights under this Agreement, will be effective unless in writing signed by the party to be charged. Any
subsequent change or changes in my duties, salary or compensation will not affect the validity or scope of this Agreement.

C.

Nothing contained herein shall be construed to require the commission of any act contrary to law. Should there be any
conflict between any provisions hereof and any present or future statute, law, ordinance, regulation, or other pronouncement
having the force of law, the latter shall prevail, but the provision of this Agreement affected thereby shall be curtailed and
limited only to the extent necessary to bring it within the requirement of the law, and the remaining provisions of this
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

D.

This Agreement may not be assigned by me without the prior written consent of Global Eagle. Subject to the foregoing
sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon my heirs, executors, administrators and other legal representatives and will
be for the benefit of Global Eagle, its successors, and its assigns.

E.

The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if any one or more provisions may be determined to be illegal or
otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions or parts thereof shall nevertheless be binding and
enforceable. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is deemed unenforceable, Global Eagle and I agree that a
court or an arbitrator chosen pursuant to the terms hereof shall reform such provision to the extent necessary to cause it to
be enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by law. Global Eagle and I agree that each desires the court or arbitrator to
reform such provision, and therefore agree that the court or arbitrator will have jurisdiction to do so and that each will abide
by the determination of the court or arbitrator.

I have had the opportunity to review this Agreement at my leisure and have had the opportunity to ask questions regarding the nature of
my employment with Global Eagle I have also been advised that I would be given the opportunity to allow my legal counsel to assist
me in the review of this Agreement prior to my execution of this Agreement. I agree to execute any proper oath or verify any proper
document required to carry out the terms of this Agreement. I represent that my performance of all the terms of this Agreement will not
breach any agreement to keep in confidence proprietary information acquired by me in confidence or in trust prior to my employment
by Global Eagle. I have not entered into, and I agree I will not enter into any oral or written agreements in conflict herewith.
[signature page follows]

I have read, and I understand and agree to comply with all conditions above without any reservation whatsoever.

Signature: /s/ Stephen Ballas Date: March 11, 2016
Print Employee Name: Stephen Ballas

Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.
By: /s/ Zant Chapelo
Name: Zant Chapelo
Title: SVP Human Resources and Org Development

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, David M. Davis, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statement made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls over financial reporting.
Date:

May 9, 2016

/s/ David M. Davis
David M. Davis
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Michael Zemetra, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Global Eagle Entertainment Inc.

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statement made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls over financial reporting.
Date:

May 9, 2016

/s/ Michael Zemetra
Michael Zemetra
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 1350
(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)
I, David M. Davis, Chief Executive Officer of Global Eagle Entertainment Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that, to the best of my knowledge:
(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)); and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date:

May 9, 2016

/s/ David M. Davis
David M. Davis
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 1350
(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)
I, Michael Zemetra, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Global Eagle Entertainment Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that, to the best of my knowledge:
(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)); and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date:

May 9, 2016

/s/ Michael Zemetra
Michael Zemetra
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

